## Identification of novel histone marks required for the transcriptional stress response

Gerard Martínez Cebrián

PhD Thesis UPF

Barcelona, 2019

# Thesis directors: Dr. Francesc Posas Garriga and Dr. Eulàlia de Nadal Clanchet

Departament de Ciències Experimentals i de la Salut (DCEXS)

Programa de Doctorat en Biomedicina de la Universitat Pompeu Fabra



"impresionante"

**ACKNOWLEDGMENTS** 

Aquesta tesi tanca una etapa de la meva vida. Durant aquest 4 anys he viscut moments difícils, però també ha estat una etapa fantàstica, on m'he divertit fent ciència i sobretot on he aprés un munt. Ara que ja s'acaba crec que és moment de quedar-se amb les millors parts i donar les gràcies a la gent que ha estat al meu costat durant tot aquest camí.

Primer de tot vull donar les gràcies als meus directors i "jefes" Francesc i Laia per donar-me l'oportunitat d'unir-me al grup. Gràcies pel suport i els consells i gràcies també per proporcionarme un laboratori on aprendre i créixer com a científic sense restriccions i amb llibertat.

Seguint amb el laboratori, hi ha una persona que també es mereix un agraïment especial. Carme, gràcies per aguantar(-me) en els moments més difícils, en molts aspectes has estat un referent per mi. Gràcies a la resta de membres del "Transcription Team": Mariona, Santi, Jorge, Hansol i Pablo. En particular, Mariona gràcies per ajudar-me a créixer com a científic amb tu he aprés moltíssim, a mirar més enllà, més enllà fins i tot de les meves estimades histones! Gràcies als inseparables Santi i Jorge, heu estat oxigen en els moments més complicats. Gràcies a la meva companya de "poyata" Silvia, treballar a prop teu (tot i que hagis tingut l'honor de fer-me enfadar un cop) ha estat un plaer i sobretot molt divertit. Gràcies Berta, Seisi, Alba i David per l'ajuda i els consells. Gràcies a la Laia (la petita) i a la Montse per la muntanya, l'escalada i per tots els consells de vida que m'heu donat. I gràcies a la resta de membres del Lab amb que he tingut la sort de coincidir: Anna, Maria (la de Cuenca), Arturo, Nico, Pedro, Cate, Predrag,

Aida, Jana, Ramon, Manel, Silvia V, Adri, René, Romi i Andrea. Gràcies!

I per molt que sembli mentida, també hi ha vida i persones fora del laboratori, persones que tenen el mèrit d'haver aguantat amb mi durant aquest anys tant absorbents. Papes, gràcies per estar sempre al meu costat i per donar-me totes les oportunitats del món. Gràcies a la meva família, aquesta tesi també la celebrarem junts! També amb vosaltres iaios i iaia! Gràcies als meus amics Pau, Miki i als BQ, és increïble el que ric i lo bé que em sento amb vosaltres!

Dins del meu món, hi ha una persona especial que és mereix un agraïment molt gran. Marta: saps que jo això d'escriure coses boniques no és el meu fort, però no me'n puc estar de donar-te les gràcies per estar sempre al meu costat durant aquest temps, per aguantar-me, per les teves abraçades i per tot una mica.

També tinc un gràcies ben gran a la meva segona família tota la gent de l'AEiG Sant Ferran i del cau amb qui he coincidit aquests anys. Si la llista de gent del lab és llarga, no us imagineu la de gent a qui haig d'agrair coses al cau... En especial gràcies als meus cocaps i co-formadores per aguantar els meus horaris impossibles! Gràcies als meus nens/es del cau, els meus PiC's i RiNG's, m'heu fet molt però que molt feliç! Gràcies als "Young Scouts", als "diuen que birra" i als "Viejos Verdes" sou genials, cada segon amb vosaltres ha estat i és or per mi.

En definitiva, gràcies a tots i totes, i com diem en la meva família, haver fet la tesi al vostre costat ha estat: "impresionante"!

SUMMARY

In nature, ecosystems are in constant change. Temperature fluctuations, water and nutrient availability, increases of osmolytes and toxic agents are some common changes organisms have to cope with to survive and propagate. In this variable context, evolution has equipped budding yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) with a wide catalogue of molecular mechanisms designed to neutralize the damaging effects of environmental insults or stresses. One common strategy is to modulate gene expression to generate a new transcriptional program to confront environmental stresses.

Cells tightly control their transcriptional program. A critical step to control gene expression is the regulation of nucleosome and histone dynamics. Histone post-translational modifications are key elements that modulate histone interaction with DNA and other proteins and thus transcription. They exert its effect on transcription depending on which histone residues are modified, the type of modifications and the interplay with other proteins. Despite the high number of histone post-translational modifications described and their known underlying mechanisms, histone dynamic regulation is far from being completely understood.

To evaluate the specific histone residues required for properly inducing transcription upon heat and osmotic stress, we performed a high throughput genetic screening. By assaying a complete library of histone mutants, we were able to extract general conclusions regarding the nature, localization and properties of the histone residues required upon stress. We screened three different stressactivated promoters to establish the specific residues and regions necessary for either heat, osmotic stress or both. Based on the screening, we selected the histone residues H4 serine 47 (H4-S47) and threonine 30 (H4-T30) for further characterization. We measured gene expression on mutants for both residues with different techniques (fluorescent reporters, northern blot and RNA sequencing). Additionally, we identified and characterized the kinases that modify both residues upon stress. Thus, we described new mechanisms modulating yeast stressinduced transcription through the histone residues H4-S47 and H4-T30.

Following, we characterized and selected from the screening additional histone residues for further analysis, as interesting new candidates to have a role in stress-mediated transcription regulation in yeast.

In summary, results presented in this thesis provide novel insights into histone modifications relevant to respond to heat and osmotic stress. A la natura, els ecosistemes canvien constantment. Les fluctuacions de temperatura, la disponibilitat d'aigua i de nutrients i l'augment d'osmòlits i d'agents tòxics són alguns dels canvis habituals als què els organismes han de fer front per sobreviure i propagar-se. En aquest context variable, l'evolució ha proporcionat al llevat (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) un ampli catàleg de mecanismes moleculars dissenyats per neutralitzar els efectes perjudicials dels estressos ambientals. Una estratègia comuna és modular l'expressió gènica per generar un nou programa de transcripció adequat per fer front a l'estrès ambiental.

Les cèl·lules exerceixen un ferm control sobre el seu programa transcripcional. Un pas crític per controlar l'expressió gènica és la regulació de les dinàmiques de les histones i dels nucleosomes. Les modificacions post-traduccionals d'histones són uns elements clau que modulen la interacció de les histones amb el DNA i altres proteïnes i, en conseqüència, la transcripció. Aquestes exerceixen el seu efecte sobre la transcripció depenen dels residus d'histona modificats, del tipus de modificacions i de les interaccions amb altres proteïnes. Malgrat l'elevat nombre de modificacions post-traduccionals d'histones descrites i els seus mecanismes subjacents coneguts, la regulació dinàmica de les histones encara està lluny de ser completament entesa.

Per avaluar els residus d'histones específicament necessaris per a induir correctament la transcripció en resposta a un estrès tèrmic i osmòtic, hem dut a terme un cribratge genètic a gran escala. Mitjançant l'assaig d'una llibreria completa de mutants d'histones, hem pogut extreure conclusions generals respecte a la naturalesa,

xiii

### SUMMARY

localització i propietats dels residus d'histones necessaris en resposta a estrès. Hem estudiat tres promotors diferents activats per estrès per establir els residus i les regions necessàries específicament per a l'estrès tèrmic, l'estrès osmòtic o ambdós.

Basant-nos en el cribratge, hem seleccionat els residus serina 47 i treonina 30 de la histona H4 (H4-S47 i H4-T30) per a una caracterització més detallada. Mitjançant l'avaluació de l'expressió gènica amb diferents tècniques (reporters fluorescents, northern blot i seqüenciació de RNA), hem caracteritzat els efectes sobre la resposta transcripcional d'estrès de les mutacions en tots dos residus. A més, hem identificat i caracteritzat les quinases que modifiquen els dos residus en resposta a estrès. D'aquesta manera, hem descrit nous mecanismes que modulen la transcripció induïda per l'estrès en llevats, a través dels residus H4-S47 i H4-T30.

Finalment, hem caracteritzat i seleccionat residus d'histona addicionals, com a nous candidats interesants per tenir un paper en la regulació de la transcripció durant estrès en llevat.

En resum, els resultats presentats en aquesta tesi proporcionen nova informació sobre modificacions d'histona rellevants per respondre a l'estrès tèrmic i osmòtic.

xiv

PREFACE

PREFASE

Upon environmental stresses such as osmotic or heat shock, the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* activates several intracellular signaling pathways in order to survive and adapt. Upon these conditions, stressed cells drastically reconfigure their gene expression program, up-regulating a set of stress-responsive genes while down-regulating the stress-repressed ones, aiming to better cope with the extracellular insult (Gasch *et al.*, 2000; Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2012). This transcriptional response is extensively regulated by several mechanisms, from messenger RNA (mRNA) biogenesis and chromatin remodeling, to mRNA modification, export and translation (de Nadal, Ammerer and Posas, 2011).

In order to generate a transcriptional outburst, nucleosomes need to be removed from stress-responsive genes allowing RNApolymerase machinery to bind to chromatin and initiate transcription. Histone regulation is often mediated by posttranslational modifications (PTMs). Since early 60s, when histone acetylation and methylation were first detected (Allfrey, Faulkner and Mirsky, 1964), hundreds of new modifications have been described on a wide variety of conformations and residues (Zhao and Garcia, 2015). Such modifications are highly dynamic and establish a complex network of crosstalk interactions that ultimately define the chromatin/transcriptional state of the cell. In the past few years, several histone PTMs and their associated mechanisms have been described in a wide range of conditions. However, the map of histone modifications is far from complete, especially regarding histone modifications in the context of the transcriptional stress response.

PREFASE

In this PhD thesis, we aimed to identify the histone residues required for properly inducing transcription upon stress. We performed a high throughput screening measuring the activity of a fluorescent reporter under the control of promoters activated by heat and/or osmotic stress. We used a complete library of histone mutant strains in each histone residue. Using this approach, we evaluated the implication of each individual residue upon osmotic and heat stress-induced transcription.

From this work, we generated a catalog of histone residues required for a proper transcriptional reprograming upon stress. We demonstrated that such residues depend on the particular promoter and stress studied. We also defined novel histone regions required for stress-induced transcriptional response.

From the screening, we selected and validated some interesting candidates for further analysis: the histone H4 serine 47 and threonine 30 (H4-S47 and the H4-T30). We demonstrated their relevance for properly modulating stress driven transcription upon osmotic and heat stress respectively. Additionally, we identified and characterized the kinases Cla4 and Ste20 that target H4-S47 and the kinase Ste11 for H4-T30.

Our research adds new valuable information to the yeast histone regulation. Despite our contribution, more research is needed to fully complete and understand such a complex biological response. However, our screening represents a solid starting point to characterize novel histone PTMs involved on the regulation of the transcriptional stress response.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARYix
PREFACE
INTRODUCTION
1. YEAST RESPONSE TO OSMOTIC AND HEAT STRESS 3
1.1 Osmotic stress signaling 4
1.2 Heat stress signaling
2. TRANSCRIPTIONAL RESPONSE UPON STRESS 11
2.1 Stress-induced transcription reprogramming
2.2 Transcription initiation upon stress
2.3 Chromatin remodeling
3. HISTONE AND NUCLEOSOME DYNAMICS IN YEAST . 20
3.1 Histone and nucleosome structure
3.2 Histone chaperones
3.3 Histone post-translational modifications
3.4 Histone regulation
4. STRATEGIES TO STUDY HISTONE MODIFICATIONS 34
4.1 Histone mutant libraries
4.2 Mas spectometry approaches
4.3 Antibodies base approaches
OBJECTIVES
<b>RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</b>
A genetic analysis reveals the histone residues required for transcriptional reprogramming upon stress.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Results and Discussion	89
CONCLUSIONS	119
SUPPLEMENTARY ARTICLE	123
Shaping the transcriptional landscape throught MAPK states IntechOpen: Gene expression and control (2019)	ignalling. 125
Discussion	149
REFERENCES	151
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	181

**INTRODUCTION** 

### **1. YEAST RESPONSE TO OSMOTIC AND HEAT STRESS**

In nature, Saccharomyces cerevisiae are saprophytes that grow in plant or animal tissues. Because these environments are highly variable, yeast cells have evolved a cohort of complex and specific mechanisms to overcome extracellular changes and to maintain their internal homeostasis. These sudden changes such as fluctuations in temperature and osmolarity or increases of oxidizing agents, radiation, toxic chemicals and others are commonly known as environmental stresses. Any of these alterations is sensed and the signal is transduced intracellularly by signaling-transduction pathways that coordinate the cellular response. Part of this response involves the activation and accumulation of stress-responsive molecules, the remodeling of the gene expression program and the repression of unnecessary functions such as protein biogenesis. All these dramatic intracellular changes aim to adapt cells to the new extracellular conditions and guarantee their survival (Gasch et al., 2000; Gasch and Werner-Washburne, 2002; Hohmann, 2002; Richter, Haslbeck and Buchner, 2010; Morano, Grant and Moye-Rowley, 2012).

In the laboratory, the conditions of yeast growth are tightly controlled. The optimal temperature is maintained between 25 and 30°C; osmolarity between cells and media is balanced; and other parameters such as pH and nutrient content are also optimized. To study stress responses, it is necessary to promote their induction by stressing yeast cells, for instance by switching the growth temperature to 39°C or by adding high concentrations of salt or any other osmolyte to the media.

### 1.1 Osmotic stress signaling

In yeast's natural niche, one common stress is the change in extracellular osmolarity. Because of the permeability of the plasma membrane, an extracellular increase of the ionic force generates a flux of intracellular water out of the cell. In addition to the obvious damaging effects of losing intracellular free water, there is also a dangerous reduction in cell volume and membrane pressure (Mager and Varela, 1993). All these phenomena affect the performance of all essential biochemical reactions inside the cell, putting cell viability at risk.

In the event of osmotic stress, the high osmolarity glycerol (HOG) pathway and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) Hog1 sense and coordinate the response. The HOG pathway senses osmotic stress through two distinct but partially redundant mechanisms: the Sln1 and the Sho1 branches (Fig 1) (Brewster *et al.*, 1993; Saito and Posas, 2012). The Sln1 branch is composed of the osmo-sensor histidine kinase Sln1. In non-stress conditions, Sln1 is active and phosphorylates Ypd1, which in turn transfers the phosphate to Ssk1 (Posas *et al.*, 1996). Phosphorylated Ssk1, is not able to activate the down-stream MAPK kinase kinases (MAPKKK or MAP3K) Ssk2/Ssk22 preventing the activation of the rest of the pathway. Upon osmotic stress, the loss of membrane turgor inhibits Sln1, consequently unphosphorylated Ssk1 is now able to activate Ssk2 and Ssk22 (Posas *et al.*, 1996; Posas and Saito, 1998).

On the other hand, the Sho1 branch initiates with the activation of the GTPase Cdc42 by the extracellular sensors Msb2

and Hkr1 (Maeda, Takekawa and Saito, 1995; Yang *et al.*, 2009). At the same time, Sho1 and Opy2 anchor the downstream components of the pathway to the membrane in close proximity between each other (Reiser, Salah and Ammerer, 2000; Tatebayashi *et al.*, 2006). Cdc42 activates MAPKKK kinases (MAPKKKK or MAP4K) Ste20 and Cla4 that in turn phosphorylate the MAPKKK Ste11 (Raitt, 2000; Van Drogen *et al.*, 2000; Lamson, Winters and Pryciak, 2002).



#### Figure 1. Schematic outline of the HOG pathway.

Osmotic stress activates the HOG pathway through two distinct osmo-sensing branches Sln1 and Sho1. Both branches converge through Ssk2/22 and Ste11 MAPKKK respectively that activate the MAPKK Pbs2 that in turn activates the MAPK Hog1. Hog1 generates and coordinates the intracellular response upon osmostress.

At this point, both branches converge. Ssk2/Ssk22 and Ste11 bind to their respective docking sites on the MAPK kinase (MAPKK or MAP2K) Pbs2. Once bound, any of these MAPKKKs phosphorylate Pbs2 on their Ser514 and Thr518. Activated Pbs2 further transmits the signal by dually phosphorylating the core element of the pathway, the MAPK Hog1 at Thr174 and Thr176 (Brewster *et al.*, 1993; Posas and Saito, 1997).

Hog1 is the kinase responsible for coordinating the osmostress response. It activates a short-term response devoted to accumulate glycerol inside the cell, which restores the osmotic balance with the exterior (Nevoigt and Stahl, 1997). It does so by directly regulating the activity of the 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase Pfk2, inhibiting glycolysis and redirecting the carbon metabolism to produce glycerol (Dihazi, Kessler and Eschrich, 2004). In parallel Hog1 also promotes the closure of the glycerol export channel Fps1 by inhibiting its activators, facilitating the increase of intracellular glycerol (Lee *et al.*, 2013).

Besides Hog1 roles in the cytosol, right after its activation, Hog1 translocates inside the nucleus to activate the transcriptional response (Ferrigno *et al.*, 1998). Once in the nucleus Hog1 phosphorylates several targets such as transcription factors, elongation factors, chromatin remodelers and mRNA processors to induce a complete change in the protein content of the cell (reviewed in de Nadal, Ammerer and Posas, 2011 and further discussed in section 2).

During osmotic stress, Hog1 also controls cell cycle

6

progression. Because cell cycle is a very sensitive and coordinated process, upon osmotic stress, cells delay its progression to allow a proper adaptation before proceeding to a new division. Hog1 directly regulates the expression and activity of several cell cycle factors during all cell cycle phases (G1, S, G2 and M). This control mechanism ensures a safe and organized cell cycle progression upon the damaging effects of osmotic stress (Escoté *et al.*, 2004; Zapater *et al.*, 2005; Clotet *et al.*, 2006; Adrover *et al.*, 2011; Duch, De Nadal and Posas, 2013; Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2014; Chang *et al.*, 2017; Canal *et al.*, 2018).

Osmotic stress adaptation puts yeast cells out of their comfort zone. Besides the evident delay on cell cycle progression, other fundamental functions such as protein synthesis and catabolism are also compromised. Therefore, once cells are adapted to the new situation, Hog1 signaling needs to be attenuated to reestablish the normal cellular functions. The down-regulation of the pathways is directly triggered by the recovery of cell volume and membrane turgor due to the accumulation of glycerol (Nevoigt and Stahl, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, there are also internal negative feedback loops that attenuate Hog1 signaling such as the phosphorylation of upstream components of the pathway by Hog1 (Hao *et al.*, 2007, 2008). Hog1 also promotes the expression of the phosphotylate Hog1 activating sites modulating the activity of the pathway (Jacoby *et al.*, 1997; Warmka *et al.*, 2001).

### **1.2 Heat stress signaling**

In nature, temperature is constantly fluctuating between day and night but also throughout seasons. Despite this variability, the optimal growth temperature for *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is around 25-30°C while any sudden increase above these temperatures represents an insult for normal cell growth. The molecular and physiologic effects of heat are diverse. Typically, temperatures above 37°C cause defects on protein kinetics and folding, which may lead to an increase in protein aggregation. The proteotoxic effect of heat stress reduces the quantity and availability of functional proteins, having an impact on many cellular processes such as cytoskeleton organization, organoid positioning, mRNA processing and translation among others. Additionally, heat shock also increases membrane and cell wall structure, mobility and permeability, affecting its stability and composition (Richter, Haslbeck and Buchner, 2010; Verghese *et al.*, 2012).

In order to overcome the undesired effects of heat, there is no a unique signaling pathway, but several that in combination restore cellular homeostasis (Fig 2). Despite current knowledge, some of these pathways are not completely understood and many molecular mechanisms have not been well defined yet.

One of the main regulators of the heat stress response is the heat shock factor 1 (Hsf1). Hsf1 is a highly conserved transcription factor in eukaryotes that induces gene expression of heat-responsive genes. In the absence of heat stress, Hsf1 is already bound to promoters allowing certain levels of basal transcription. However,

8

the protein chaperones Hsp90 and Hsp70 bind Hsf1, sequestrating its activity. Upon heat stress, Hsp90 and Hsp70 are required to bind unfolded proteins. This relaxes their inhibition towards Hsf1 and allows it to initiate thermo-responsive transcription (Fig 2) (Hottiger *et al.*, 1992; Morano, Grant and Moye-Rowley, 2012; Verghese *et al.*, 2012; Brown *et al.*, 2017). A far less understood layer of regulation is the post-translational modification of Hsf1, mainly by



### Figure 2. Outline of the three main mechanisms that coordinate the heat stress response in yeast.

From left to right. Upon heat shock, protein chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp90 bind unfolded proteins liberating Hsf1 repression. Free Hsf1 activates the transcriptional heat stress response. Thermal stress damaging effects on the cell wall activate the CWI pathway. Once activated, the MAPK Mpk1/Stl2 coordinate the intracellular heat stress response. Simultaneously, heat shock inhibits the PKA pathway releasing the transcription factors Msn2/4 from their cytosolic inhibition, allowing them to activate the transcriptional response.

### INTRODUCTION

phosphorylation and sumoylation. Despite the fact that such modifications are identified in humans and *Xenopus* Hsfl (not in yeast), their role in the context of the heat stress response has not been well defined yet (Hong *et al.*, 2001; Guettouche *et al.*, 2005).

Besides Hsf1, the functionally redundant transcription factors Msn2 and Msn4 (from now on Msn2/4) are also activated upon heat stress. Once again, the precise molecular mechanism that activates both transcription factors has not been completely elucidated yet. Current models hypothesize that the protein kinase A (PKA) pathway inhibits Msn2/4 to avoid activation of any stress-responsive program during favorable conditions. Upon heat stress, the PKA pathway is inhibited releasing Msn2/4 to activate transcription in the nucleus (Fig 2) (Fuchs and Mylonakis, 2009; Morano, Grant and Moye-Rowley, 2012; García *et al.*, 2017; Sanz *et al.*, 2018).

In addition to the activation of these transcription factors, heat stress also causes defects on cell wall dynamics, which activate the cell wall integrity pathway (CWI), another MAPK pathway in yeast (Fig 2). In brief, heat-induced cell wall damage is sensed by a cohort of extracellular sensors (mainly Wsc1, Mlt1 and Mid2). These sensors transmit the signal to a guanine nucleotide exchange factor Rom2, whose catalytic activity activates the GTPase Rho1. Then GTP-bound Rho1 activates the protein kinase C (Pkc1) that in turn activates the MAPKKK Bck1. Bck1 phosphorylates the two redundant MAPKKs Mkk1 and Mkk2 which finally transmit the signal to the MAPK Stl2 also named Mpk1. Once activated, the MAPK further transmits the signal by activating several transcription factors, chromatin remodels and other downstream targets (Levin, 2011; Verghese *et al.*, 2012; Sanz *et al.*, 2018).

These three mechanisms aim to protect the cell from the undesired effects of the increase in temperature. A fraction of the response consist on the activation of the synthesis of trehalose. This disaccharide has a thermo-protective effect on proteins and membranes (Magalhães *et al.*, 2018). The heat stress response also includes an increased synthesis of chaperons and co-factors that stabilize unfolded proteins and try to diminish protein aggregates (Morano, Grant and Moye-Rowley, 2012; Verghese *et al.*, 2012).

### 2. TRANSCRIPTIONAL RESPONSE UPON STRESS

Transcription is a fundamental cellular process that produces messenger RNA from a DNA template. Newly synthetized mRNA is modified and translated into poly-amino acid chains that ultimately form proteins. The yeast genome is composed of around 6600 genes, but not all of them are simultaneously transcribed. In basal conditions, cells are devoted to cell growth and, as a consequence, the transcription machinery is particularly focused on massively transcribing ribosomal related genes such as rRNAs, ribosomal proteins and tRNAs (Gasch *et al.*, 2000). There is another set of genes known as housekeeping genes that are constitutively transcribed independently of the cellular status. This subset of genes encode for structural proteins, metabolic enzymes, some rRNAs, etc., all necessary to sustain cell viability (Huisinga and Pugh,

### INTRODUCTION

2004). On the other hand, the transcription of another subset of genes fluctuates in a timely-regulated manner according to the cell cycle in which their products are required (McInerny, 2016). In optimal conditions, the transcription of these three groups of genes coexists. However, upon a sudden environmental change, cells massively reconfigure their transcriptional program to adapt to the new situation. Indeed, stress represses the transcription of the above-mentioned genes and induces the transcription of a subset of stress-responsive genes (Gasch *et al.*, 2000; Capaldi *et al.*, 2008; Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2012). Expression regulation of all these types of genes is a key but also complex process that shapes the transcriptional landscape of cells depending on the particular requirements of each environmental condition.



Figure 3. Control of transcription by MAPKs upon stress.

Stress activated MAPKs shuttle from the cytosol to the nucleus. In the nucleus, MAPKs promote transcription initiation by interacting with transcription factors (TF) and chromatin remodelers (ChR). During mRNA elongation MAPKs also target transcription elongating factors (TEF) and chromatin remodelers to remove nucleosomes and facilitating RNA-polymerase II (RNA-pol) passage across the gene.

Upon osmotic and heat stress, there is an exhaustive control of all the processes that lead to protein synthesis. This multi-layered response implicates the regulation of transcription initiation, elongation and chromatin remodeling among other processes of mRNA biogenesis (Fig 3) (de Nadal, Ammerer and Posas, 2011). This transcriptional control by MAPKs builds a complex and robust regulatory network that complements the cytosolic response against heat and osmostress.

### 2.1 Stress-induced transcription reprogramming

Upon stress, the expression pattern of 10 to 20% of genes in yeast are altered depending on the type and strength of the stress (Gasch *et al.*, 2000; Posas *et al.*, 2000; Causton *et al.*, 2001; Pelet *et al.*, 2011; Ho and Gasch, 2015; Brown *et al.*, 2017). Growing and biogenesis genes are no longer a priority and are quickly down-regulated. Instead, cells induce a new subset of stress-responsive genes in order to survive and adapt to that particular stress. Each stress has its own transcriptional program depending on the strategies developed by the cell to better cope with the damaging effects of the stress. The duration and intensity of the transcriptional response also depends on the type and intensity of the stress. However, there is also a common transcriptional response for different stresses known as the environmental stress response (ESR) (Gasch *et al.*, 2000; Pelet *et al.*, 2011; Brown *et al.*, 2017).

The ESR includes approximately 300 genes that are upregulated, mainly related to mechanisms of general stress defense

### INTRODUCTION

such as carbohydrate metabolism, protein folding/degradation, redox regulation and DNA damage. Whereas around 600 genes are down-regulated most of them related to ribosomal and translational functions (Gasch *et al.*, 2000; de Nadal, Ammerer and Posas, 2011; Brown *et al.*, 2017).

The advantages of such a general response seems to go further than simpler stress survival. Surprisingly, most of the genes that are induced in the ESR are not essentially required for cell survival upon stress (Giaever *et al.*, 2002). Instead, it has been postulated that the synthesis of proteins from the ESR serves as a mechanism of cross-protection for future and diverse stresses, adapting yeast cells to their highly variable natural niches (Berry and Gasch, 2008; Berry *et al.*, 2011).

Besides the ESR, each stress induces its own transcriptional program. Part of this specific response also includes the transcriptional modulation of positive and negative feedback loops. Indeed, transcription factors, phosphatases and other regulatory elements are transcriptionally regulated to finely control the dynamics of stress responses (Brown *et al.*, 2017).

### 2.2 Transcription initiation upon stress

Transcription begins with the formation of the pre-initiation complex (PIC). The PIC is composed of transcription factors, some of them are general as the TFII family and others are gene-specific. Subsequently, the transcription factors recruit and coordinate the
interaction of co-activators, chromatin remodelers and the RNA-polymerase II (RNA-Pol II) (Shandilya and Roberts, 2012).

The transcription factors Msn2/4 are the main activators of the general stress-induced ESR, activated by different means upon both heat and osmotic stress (Görner et al., 1998; Gasch et al., 2000; Rep et al., 2000; García et al., 2017). Msn2/4 bind to the STRE sequence in stress-induced genes. It is generally accepted that Msn2/4 regulation is mainly mediated by its nuclear/cytosolic shuttling. This model fits with the observations in which upon heat stress the inhibition of the PKA pathway favors their nuclear accumulation (Fig 2) (Görner et al., 1998; García et al., 2017). A similar increase on Msn2/4 nuclear localization is observed upon Hog1 activation by osmotic stress (Schüller et al., 1994; Rep et al., 2000). Besides its nuclear localization, Hog1 also increases the occupancy of Msn2/4 and other initiation factors on osmoresponsive genes by directly up-regulating the ubiquitin protease Ubp3 and thus preventing their polyubiquitin-mediated degradation (Solé et al., 2011).

In addition to the ESR, each stress requires a particular subset of transcription factors to generate the appropriate transcriptional response (Capaldi *et al.*, 2008; Ni *et al.*, 2009). Upon osmotic stress, Hog1 regulates the transcription activators Smp1, Hot1, Rtg1/Rtg3 and Sko1 (Alepuz *et al.*, 2001, 2003; Proft *et al.*, 2001; de Nadal, Casadome and Posas, 2003; Ruiz-Roig *et al.*, 2012). The mechanisms of transcription factor activation are diverse. For instance, Hog1 directly mediates Smp1 and Rtg1/Rtg3 activation through direct phosphorylation (de Nadal, Casadome and Posas,

2003; Ruiz-Roig *et al.*, 2012). Sko1 activity is also regulated by Hog1 phosphorylation. However in this case, Sko1 phosphorylation frees it from its repressor complex with Ssn6 and Tup1, allowing Sko1 to act as a transcription activator (Kuchin and Carlson, 1998; Proft and Struhl, 2002). Finally, Hog1 also phosphorylates Hot1, although such phosphorylation is not necessary for transcription activation (Alepuz *et al.*, 2003). Each of the mentioned transcription factors target a particular subset of genes, but some of them also work in combination with others, including Msn2/4, in order to properly initiate the transcriptional response upon osmotic stress (Capaldi *et al.*, 2008; Ni *et al.*, 2009; de Nadal and Posas, 2015).

Transcription initiation and the activity of transcription factors is also tightly regulated upon heat stress. As described before, the transcription factor Hsf1 is the major inductor of the specific transcriptional heat stress response. Hsf1 regulation directly depends on chaperones Hsp70 and Hsp90 although in some organisms, it can also be modulated by post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation and sumoylation (Hong *et al.*, 2001; Hilgarth *et al.*, 2004; Guettouche *et al.*, 2005). Hsf1 binds DNA at heat shock elements (HSE) to mediate transcription activation. The HSE are composed of several tandem repeats of the sequence nGAAn at promoters of heat responsive genes. Hsf1 can bind in multiple combinations (alone, di- or trimerizing) with different specificities and outcomes (Erkine *et al.*, 1999; Hahn *et al.*, 2004; Erkina and Erkine, 2006).

On the other hand, the CWI pathway and its MAPK Mpk1 also target several transcription factors. Mpk1 phosphorylates the

transcription factor Rlm1 that in turn activates transcription of the majority of genes up-regulated by the CWI (Jung *et al.*, 2002; Levin, 2011; Sanz *et al.*, 2018). This transcriptional response includes the transcription of the *RLM1*, *MPK1* and other genes of components of the CWI pathway as a positive auto-regulatory feedback loop. At the same time, Mpk1 promotes the expression of several phosphatases (mainly Ptp2 and Msg5) that attenuate the response, balancing the activation/repression state of the pathway (Mattison *et al.*, 1999; Hahn and Thiele, 2002). In addition, Mpk1 also activates the transcription factors SBF composed of Swi4 and Swi6 through a non-catalytic mechanism (Baetz *et al.*, 2001). Active Mpk1 binds to Swi4 replacing its inhibitors; once freed, Swi4 and Swi6 can dimerize and activate transcription (Kim and Levin, 2011).

Once the heat and osmo-activated transcription factors are bound to the promoters of stress-responsive genes, other regulatory elements such as Spt-ADA-Gcn5 acetyltransferase complex (SAGA) and Mediator interact with these promoters (de Nadal, Ammerer and Posas, 2011), leading to the recruitment of the RNA-Pol II to initiate transcription.

#### 2.3 Chromatin remodeling

Generally speaking, stress-responsive genes are basally silenced and their promoters and coding regions are condensed within nucleosomes that act as natural barriers for the transcription machinery. Upon stress, chromatin remodelers disrupt the existing

DNA-histone interactions to evict or displace nucleosomes facilitating the PIC formation and transcription initiation. Once transcription is initiated, to facilitate RNA-Pol II passage during RNA elongation, chromatin remodelers and histone modifiers are also required to remove nucleosome across the gene body (Shandilya and Roberts, 2012). On the other hand, once environmental stresses end or cells have managed to adapt, the stress transcriptional program is also terminated while chromatin remodelers reposition histones back and chromatin is re-condensed on stress-responsive genes (de Nadal, Ammerer and Posas, 2011).

In budding yeast, there are three main families of chromatin remodelers involved in the transcriptional stress response: SWI/SNF, ISWI and INO80. Besides these families, other complexes such as SAGA also act as chromatin remodelers in stress-responsive genes.

The SWI/SNF family is composed by the SWI/SNF (Snf2, Swi3, Swi1, Snf5, Swp82, Snf12, Arp7, Arp9, Snf6, Snf11 and Taf14) and the RSC (Rsc1-10, Sht1 and others) complexes (Smith *et al.*, 2003; Mas *et al.*, 2009; Lorch and Kornberg, 2017). Both complexes are low abundant and have an intrinsically none-specific mode of action. They require the binding of transcription factors such as Rlm1 and Sko1 or other effectors such as Hsf1 and Msn2/4-dependent activators, in order to specifically interact with promoters (Proft and Struhl, 2002; Erkina, Tschetter and Erkine, 2008; Mas *et al.*, 2009; Sanz *et al.*, 2018). Once targeted, the mechanism of action, specificity and regulation of the SWI/SNF and RSC complexes differs. However, the activity of both results in a similar

18

increased accessibility for the RNA-Pol II at promoters of stressresponsive genes (Shivaswamy and Iyer, 2008; Mas *et al.*, 2009). Both complexes also mediate the nucleosome removal during RNA elongation.

MAPKs Mpk1 and Hog1 also regulate SWI/SNF and RSC activity to promote a complete transcription cycle of the stress-induced genes (de Nadal and Posas, 2011; Kim and Levin, 2011; Silva *et al.*, 2017). As example, Hog1 directly contacts RSC to tether the remodeler complex to osmo-induced genes (Mas *et al.*, 2009; Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2015).

SAGA is a polypeptide complex with different subunits that specifically remodels chromatin preferentially in highly regulated and stress-induced genes (Huisinga and Pugh, 2004; Rodríguez-Navarro, 2009). SAGA mediates chromatin remodeling through the histone acetyl transferase activity of its subunit Gcn5 (Grant *et al.*, 1997; Wu *et al.*, 2004). In order to ensure an adequate transcriptional response, Hog1 targets SAGA to osmo-responsive genes (Zapater *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, SAGA is also required in heat shock genes for proper transcription initiation (Kremer and Gross, 2009).

The complexes ISWI and INO80 compose another family of chromatin remodelers. In contrast to the activating function of SWI/SNF and RSC, ISWI and INO80 catalyze the repositioning of nucleosome on stress-responsive genes (Klopf *et al.*, 2009, 2017; Krietenstein *et al.*, 2016). Consequently, their activity is associated with a repression of transcription once the stress is finished or the

negative feedback loops take control to limit toxic levels of stressresponsive genes that may compromise cell viability.

#### **3. HISTONE AND NUCLEOSOME DYNAMICS IN YEAST**

In eukaryotic cells, DNA fibers are packed inside the nucleus. This packaging is highly dynamic and chromatin is compacted or decompacted depending on a variety of scenarios such as cell cycle replication or transcription. progression, Typically, highly condensed regions known as heterochromatin are transcriptionally silenced, while open chromatin (euchromatin) correlates with active genes. The main proteins that physically condensate chromatin and define its accessibility are histones (Luger et al., 1997). Eight histone proteins form octamers that wrap DNA into structures known as nucleosomes (Fig 4). Nucleosomes in turn aggregate and form a higher order of condensed chromatin to fully compact chromosomes during cell division (Jansen and Verstrepen, 2011; Luger, Dechassa and Tremethick, 2012). As mentioned before, nucleosome compaction has a profound effect on chromatin accessibility for the transcription machinery. Thus, yeast has evolved several mechanisms to modulate nucleosome positioning on chromatin, also upon extracellular stresses, when a fast and intense transcriptional response is required.



#### Figure 4. Cristal structure of the yeast nucleosome.

A nucleosome is composed of an histone octamer of one histone H3 (blue) and H4 (green) tetramer plus two H2A (yellow) and H2B (red) heterodimers that wraps 147 base pairs of DNA. Coordinates for nucleosome structure were obtained from White *et al.*, 2001 (Protein Data Bank accession number 1ID3) and analyzed with Pymol software.

#### 3.1 Histone and nucleosome structure

Histone are highly conserved proteins across species, from yeast to humans. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has four core histones: H3, H4, H2A and H2B. In budding yeast, each histone protein is encoded by two different genes: H3 (*HHT1* and *HHT2*), H4 (*HHF1* and *HHF2*), H2A (*HTA1* and *HTA2*) and H2B (*HTB1* and *HTB2*) (Hereford *et al.*, 1979; Choe, Kolodrubetz and Grunstein, 1982; Smith and Andrésson, 1983). Regarding their sequence, there are some nucleotides that differ between gene pairs, but most of the mutations are silent and do not change the amino acid composition. Histone genes are organized in pairs separated by a bidirectional

promoter, each of them located in a different region of the genome: HHT1-HHF1 (ChrII) and HHT2-HHF2 (ChrXIV) for H4 and H3; HTA1-HTB1 (ChrIV) and HTA2-HTB2 (ChrII) for H2A and H2B (Hereford et al., 1979; Choe, Kolodrubetz and Grunstein, 1982; Smith and Andrésson, 1983). Despite their high level of homology and redundancy, the transcription level between gene pairs are not equal. For instance, the HHT2-HHF2 pair contributes around 80% to the final level of H3 and H4 whereas the remaining corresponds to HHT1-HHF1 (Cross and Smith, 1988). Despite their differences, one gene pair can compensate the deletion of the other with only minor phenotypic effects in some particular conditions (Norris and Osley, 1987; Norris, Dunn and Osley, 1988; Liang et al., 2012). In addition, transcription of the core histone genes is highly regulated in a cell cycle manner. During late G1, transcription of histones is activated to cope with DNA doubling during S phase (Osley, 1991). All core histone genes share the same regulatory elements and their transcription rates are coordinated to maintain the stoichiometry necessary for proper nucleosome composition (Sittman, Graves and Marzluff, 1983; Eriksson et al., 2012).

Unlike higher eukaryotes such as mouse or humans, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has a much more limited number of core histone genes and non-canonical histone variants (Marzluff *et al.*, 2002; Henikoff and Smith, 2015). Budding yeast known histone variants are the linker protein H1 (gene *HHO1*); the H2A.Z (gene *HTZ1*) that substitutes the canonical H2A in some specific regions; and the centromeric H3-like protein cenH3 (gene CSE4) (Stoler *et al.*, 1995; Santisteban, Kalashnikova and Smith, 2000; Li *et al.*,

2005; Panday and Grove, 2017). The function of these variants seems to be restricted under certain conditions in specific locus.

Histones are relatively small proteins ranging from the shortest H4 with only 103 amino acids to the 136 of the largest H3. All four histones have an intrinsically disordered and flexible N-terminal tail (around 20 to 30 amino acids long) and a shorter C-terminal tail, whereas the rest of the protein has a more globular and rigid structure (Luger *et al.*, 1997; White, Suto and Luger, 2001).

complexes known nucleosomes. Histones form as Nucleosomes are composed of one H3-H4 tetramer and two H2A-H2B dimers. These octamers wrap 147 base pairs of DNA in an almost two-turn (1.65) superhelix (Fig 4) (Luger et al., 1997). Nucleosome structure is stabilized by several protein-protein interactions within the histone octamer and by electrostatic interactions and hydrogen bonds between DNA and proteins (Luger et al., 1997; Richmond and Davey, 2003; Luger, Dechassa and Tremethick, 2012). Histone N-terminal tails protrude out from the globular nucleosome and, due to their enrichment in positively charged lysines and arginines, help to stabilize the intra-nucleosome structure with DNA (Iwasaki et al., 2013). Histone tails also make contacts with other nucleosomes to generate more compacted forms of chromatin through inter-nucleosome interactions (Kan, Caterino and Hayes, 2009). Because of their higher accessibility, histone tails also serve as platforms for several histone-binding proteins. These tails are also heavily post-translationally modified and subjected to intense regulation as further described in section 3.4 (Krebs, 2007; Zhao and Garcia, 2015).

#### **3.2 Histone chaperones**

According to the high degree of conservation between histones, the nucleosome structure and conformation is also similar throughout eukaryotes. Despite their natural affinity for DNA, histones do not self-assemble into nucleosomes. Due to their enrichment in positive charges, free histones tend to form aggregates. For this reason, histones are bound to negatively charged proteins (chaperones) that prevent their aggregation and uncoordinated interactions with the acidic DNA (Pardal, Fernandes-Duarte and Bowman, 2019). The histone chaperones mediate the correct assembly and disassembly of nucleosomes, not only during DNA replication but also upon DNA damage or during transcription (Akey and Luger, 2003; Keck and Pemberton, 2012; Gurard-Levin, Quivy and Almouzni, 2014). First, the chromatin assembly factor (CAF-1) complex and other factors such as Asf1 and histone acetyltransferases incorporate the H3-H4 tetramer to DNA (Enomoto and Berman, 1998; English et al., 2006; Kumar et al., 2012). Then two H2A-H2B dimers are tethered to both sides of the H3-H4 tetramer by the nucleosome assembly protein-1 (NAP-1) to form a complete histone octamer (Ito et al., 1996; Andrews et al., 2010). Once assembled, nucleosomes are slid through DNA to be properly spaced according to the cellular requirements (Bowman, 2010).

As mentioned before, chromatin remodelers are required to remove nucleosomes during transcription. In this complex process, histone chaperones also contribute to effectively disassembly nucleosomes or reposition them once the activating signal is terminated (Korber *et al.*, 2006). An illustrative example is the interaction of the histone chaperon Asf1 with the chromatin remodeler INO80 to restore nucleosomes in stress-responsive genes after transcription (Klopf *et al.*, 2009).

#### 3.3 Histone post-translational modifications

Histones, as many other proteins, are post-translationally modified to finely tune their molecular properties and biological functions. Typically, histone modifications involve the addition through a covalent bond of a small group of atoms that changes the biochemical properties of the modified residue. The most common histone PTMs are acetylation, methylation and phosphorylation. Larger PTMs are also incorporated to histones such as ubiquitination, sumovlation or ADP-ribosylation. In recent years, with advances in mass spectrometry and with improvements on the production of new antibodies, several novel types of histone PTMs have been described such as propionylation, butyrylation, succinvlation or crotonylation (a complete list is shown in Fig 5) (Zhao and Garcia, 2015). Other rarer and less frequent types of modifications such as glutarylation or benzoylation have also been reported (Tan et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2018). As previously stated, histone N- and C-terminal tails are heavily modified, but in some cases PTMs are also deposited on their core globular domain (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011; Kebede, Schneider and Daujat, 2015; Zhao and Garcia, 2015).



#### Figure 5. Chemical structures of histone PTMs.

Molecular structures and charges of described histone PTMs in their respective modified residues in a single letter code. SUMO: sumoylation, GSH: glutathionylation, \*symmetric or \*\*asymmetric methylation. Chemical structures were constructed with the webpage: www.chemspider.com/StructureSearch.aspx.

Histone acetylation was first reported in the 60s and since then, it has been detected in a wide variety of histone residues Faulkner and Mirsky, 1964). (Allfrey, Typically, histone acetyltransferases (HATs) transfer the acetyl group from the cofactor acetyl-CoA to the ɛ-amino group of lysine. By this addition, the positive charge of the unmodified lysine is neutralized. The loss of charge may, for instance, destabilize nucleosomes by weakening the interactions between DNA and histones or change the binding affinity of other proteins for histones (Deckert and Struhl, 2001; Shogren-Knaak et al., 2006; Williams, Truong and Tyler, 2008; Zhang et al., 2018). If HATs add the acetyl group, the proteins in charge of removing the modification are histone deacetylases (HDAC) (Chen, Zhao and Zhao, 2015; Barnes, English and Cowley, 2019). Dynamic regulation of HATs and HDACs activity has a profound effect on transcription.

Another histone mark that has been intensively studied is the methylation of lysines and arginines. The *\varepsilon*-amino group of lysine can be either mono-, di-, or tri-methylated, whereas the  $\omega$ -guanidino group of arginine can be mono-methylated and symmetrically or asymmetrically di-methylated (Fig 5). Methylations tend to decorate several residues on histone tails and globular domains (Morillon et al., 2005; Du, Fingerman and Briggs, 2008; Zhao and Garcia, 2015; Worden et al., 2019). The enzymes in charge of transferring the methyl group from the SAM cofactor to histones are the histone lysine/arginine methyltransferases (HKMT and PRMTs respectively) (Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011). Unlike acetylation, methylation does not alter the positive charge of the modified

residues but instead affects its conformation and structure. Thus, the exact effect of such modification greatly depends on the residue modified. However, in general, methylation or the lack of it often alters the docking site of histone binding proteins. Hence methylation status ultimately defines the cohort of proteins that interact with nucleosomes and their different effects on chromatin (Bernstein *et al.*, 2002; Santos-rosa *et al.*, 2002; van Leeuwen, Gafken and Gottschling, 2002; Kirmizis *et al.*, 2007; Worden *et al.*, 2019). Besides the canonical lysine and arginine methylation, glutamine methylation has also been reported in yeast histone H2A-Q105, demonstrating once again the variability within histone PTMs (Tessarz *et al.*, 2014).

Phosphorylation is also a relevant histone PTM despite the fact that it is less abundant than acetylation and methylation (Zhao and Garcia, 2015). Highly dynamic, the addition of a phosphate group from ATP by a kinase can occur mainly in the hydroxyl residue of serines, threonines and tyrosines, and less frequently on histidines. The phosphate group adds a strong negative charge in that particular residue altering the biochemical properties of the surrounding region. Histone phosphorylation is associated to apoptosis, DNA damage responses and transcription activation or silencing depending on the modified site (Berger, 2010; Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011; Haase *et al.*, 2012; Zhao and Garcia, 2015; Millan-Zambrano *et al.*, 2018).

Finally, there is a more complex catalogue of less frequent but relevant histone modifications, as shown in figure 5. The function of some of them is not clear yet, whereas others such as ubiquitination and sumoylation are known to serve as interacting platforms for other proteins (Ng *et al.*, 2002; Bannister and Kouzarides, 2011; Patel and Wang, 2013; Zhao and Garcia, 2015). It is worth mentioning that despite the high degree of homology between species and that some histone PTMs are conserved from yeast to humans, not all these types of modifications are found in all organisms nor the modified amino acids are the same.

#### 3.4 Histone regulation

The numerous PTMs that decorate histones have a profound effect on nucleosome dynamics and are scrupulously regulated. In the early 90s with the increasing reporting on histone PTMs, researchers in the field started to speculate with the idea that a sort of rational "code" could exist for histone PTMs (Tordera, Sendra and Pérez-Ortín, 1993; Turner, 1993). This idea was accompanied by the identification of a complex cohort of nucleosome binding proteins that require specific histone PTMs for proper binding. Later, with the acknowledgement that histone PTMs often co-exist and establish a complex network of crosstalk interactions among them, the term "histone code" was set (Turner, 2000; Imhof and Becker, 2001; Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). Up to date, the number of different histone PTMs described are in the order of hundreds (Zhao and Garcia, 2015; Sidoli et al., 2019). Some of them have been intensively studied and functional pathways are associated to them. Despite the current knowledge, the histone code is far from being fully understood. Several histone modifications were only detected

in mass spectrometry screenings and no function has been found yet (Zhao and Garcia, 2015; Janssen, Sidoli and Garcia, 2017). Furthermore, it is still unclear how most of the histone PTMs interact with each other and with other regulatory elements and which is their relevance in the context of cell biology.

Among the well-defined functions of histone PTMs is the regulation of transcription. One hallmark modification associated with active transcription is H3-K4 tri-methylation (H3-K4me3) in promoters and coding regions from yeast to humans (Santos-rosa et al., 2002; Schneider et al., 2004). In yeast, H3-K4me3 is mediated by the methyltransferase Set1 and serves as a platform to recruit factors that promote transcription such as the SAGA complex (through its Chd1 domain) or the NuA4 complex (Morillon et al., 2005; Pray-Grant et al., 2005; Berger, 2007; Williamson et al., 2013). Once the SAGA complex recognizes the H3-K4me3, its HAT Gcn5 acetylates preferentially the H3 N-terminal tail (K9, K18, K23 and K27), whereas the HAT Esa1 in the NuA4 complex does it on H4, H2A and H2B N-terminal tails (Fig 6A) (Suka et al., 2001; Vogelauer et al., 2003; Doyon and Côté, 2004; Morillon et al., 2005; Krebs, 2007). These acetylations weaken histone-DNA interactions facilitating RNA-Pol II passage across coding regions (Lee et al., 2000; Sanz et al., 2016; Bruzzone et al., 2018; Church and Fleming, 2018).

As exemplified in the previous case, histone PTM crosstalk is an essential mechanism to control gene expression. Another example of multiple histone PTMs interaction is the methylation of K79 in the globular domain of H3. This mark regulates transcription elongation and it is necessary in the DNA damage response (Krogan *et al.*, 2003; Giannattasio *et al.*, 2005; Steger *et al.*, 2008). H3-K79 methylation requires the prior H2B-K123 (K120 in humans) ubiquitination by Rad6 (Robzyk, Recht and Osley, 2000; Ng *et al.*, 2002). Once the H2B-K123ub is set, the methyltransferase Dot1 binds to the nucleosome in close proximity with the H3-K79 side chain. To fulfill the methylation, the residues R17 and R19 in H4 N-terminal tail are required to induce a conformational change in the neighboring region of the H3-K79 side chain. This reorients its  $\varepsilon$ -amino group that is then accessible for the methyltransferase Dot1 (Fingerman, Li and Briggs, 2007; Worden *et al.*, 2019). Once





(A) Set1 tri-methylates N-terminal H3-K4. Methylated H3-K4 allows SAGA complex to bind nucleosomes though its Chd1 domain. HAT Gcn5 in SAGA acetylates several residues in the N-terminal tail of H3. H3-K4me3 also allows NuA4 complex binding while its HAT Esa1 acetylates H4 and H2A N-terminal tails. (B) H4 N-terminal tail induces a conformational change on H3-K79 that alongside H2B-K123 ubiquitination allows H3 lysine 79 methylation by the methyltransferase Dot1. H3-K79 methylation in the globular domain inhibits chromatin silencing by SIR proteins.

information regulator (SIR) proteins, repressing gene silencing in that particular region (Fig 6B) (van Leeuwen, Gafken and Gottschling, 2002; Steger *et al.*, 2008).

The two examples presented above illustrate the complex interplay between histone PTMs, chromatin remodelers and the transcription machinery. As reviewed in Zhao and Garcia *et al* 2015, the list of histone PTMs is long and the known mechanisms behind such modifications are also diverse.

In addition to the classic catalogue of "writers", "readers" and "erasers" that regulate and interact with histone PTMs, in recent years, histone tail clipping has emerged as a novel mechanism to regulate nucleosome dynamics. From yeast to mammals, the specific clipping of the N-terminal tails by proteases imposes a complete erase of histone tail PTMs and impairs the formation of intra- and inter-nucleosome interactions, adding another layer of histone/nucleosome regulation (Santos-Rosa *et al.*, 2009; Nurse *et al.*, 2013; Azad and Tomar, 2016; Azad *et al.*, 2018).

Histone PTMs are highly dynamic and are added or removed according to cellular requirements. Upon stress, an intense rewiring of the histone PTMs and the activation of new players are associated to the transcriptional outburst generated by the different signaling pathways (Weiner *et al.*, 2012; Magraner-Pardo *et al.*, 2014). As detailed before, histone tail acetylation promotes nucleosome weakening and induces gene expression. However, the histone deacetylase Rpd3 is recruited in both heat and osmoinduced genes and is required for proper stress-induced

32

transcription (de Nadal *et al.*, 2004; Ruiz-Roig *et al.*, 2010). Upon stress, another histone mark that switches roles is the well-known "activating" H3-K4me3. As previously described, H3-K4 methylation is deposited in nucleosomes across genes, which correlates with active transcription. Oppositely to its activating role, upon stress Set1 and H3-K4 methylation mediate transcription repression of ribosomal biogenesis genes (Weiner *et al.*, 2012). In addition, alternative methylation patterns of H3-K4 upon stress change the cohort of chromatin remodelers binding to stressresponsive genes, promoting a specific stress response (Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2015). These two examples demonstrate the specificity of the histone PTM regulation upon stress that it can even confer to activating marks a completely opposite role.

Histone PTMs are also involved in a wide variety of other chromatin related processes, such as the DNA damage response (Ahn et al., 2005; Muñoz-Galván et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2017; Millan-Zambrano et al., 2018), DNA replication (Baker et al., 2010; Rivera et al., 2014) or chromosome segregation (Haase et al., 2012; Ishiguro et al., 2018), among others. Histone PTM rewiring is also crucial in several human diseases such as cancer or neurodegenerative diseases, highlighting their relevance in a wide variety of contexts (Anderson and Turko, 2015; Noberini et al., 2018).

33

#### 4. STRATEGIES TO STUDY HISTONE MODIFICATIONS

The histone code is still far from being deciphered. The relatively small catalogue of histone proteins and its easy genetic manipulation and modification has made yeast a very attractive model organism to study histone and nucleosome dynamics compared with more complex organisms (Marzluff *et al.*, 2002; Henikoff and Smith, 2015). Additionally, the low number of histone variants and genes has also allowed researchers to generate histone mutant strains that facilitate the functional study of a particular histone residue.

#### 4.1 Histone mutant libraries

A common practice when studying the function of any protein of interest is to generate mutants of specific regions or residues. Taking advantage of their reduced size, first Nakanishi *et al* 2008 (SHIMA) and shortly after Dai *et al* 2008 (Open Biosystems YSC5105/6) generated two complete sets of yeast histone mutant libraries. Right from the beginning, these libraries were instrumental to study the implication of individual residues in transcription, general fitness, chromosome integrity or chemical sensitivity among other phenotypes (Dai *et al.*, 2008; Nakanishi *et al.*, 2008).

In the SHIMA's library, the endogenous histone genes were deleted and substituted by a plasmid harboring mutant versions of the four core histones *HTA1-HTB1* or *HHT2-HHF2*. More precisely, it contains a set of strains with single amino acid mutations to

alanine, a small amino acid with a non-reactive methyl side chain (Fig 7). These alanine substitutions aim to abolish any function or interaction that the endogenous residue was sustaining.

On the other hand, the collection from Dai *et al* 2008 is only composed of H3 and H4 mutants with the corresponding alanine substitutions and other mutants that aim to mimic possible modifications of the endogenous residues. For instance, threonines and serines were mutated to aspartic acid that adds a negative charge that mimics a phosphorylation (Fig 7). Also differing from the SHIMA's collection, in the H3-H4 collection histone mutated genes were integrated into the *HHT2-HHT2* locus in the genome instead of being carried in a plasmid.

For our experiments, we used the H2A and H2B mutants from Nakanishi *et al* 2008 and the H3 and H4 mutants from Dai *et al* 2008, as their collection is richer in the variety of histone mutants available. A complete list of all mutants used for this project is depicted in figure 7.

These two pioneer libraries have been instrumental for researchers in the field that have used them to screen histone residues required for a wide variety of conditions. A useful tool to retrieve valuable information regarding histone mutant screenings is the web page-based database HistoneHits (available at http://histonehits.org). This database compiles the results from several systematic screenings assessing a wide range of phenotypes (Huang *et al.*, 2009).

One criticism of these libraries is that the two copies of the endogenous genes were deleted. The rationality at the time was that histone genes dose compensate the deletion of the other copy. However, this approach underestimates the mild but well-documented defects of histone gene deletions under certain conditions (Norris and Osley, 1987; Norris, Dunn and Osley, 1988; Liang *et al.*, 2012). As a response, recently, the same authors of the

Histone H3



Open Biosystems collection constructed a dose-matching histone library for the two copies of the four core histones. This new collection is more similar to the genetic background of wild type cells (Jiang, Liu, Wang, *et al.*, 2017). This increases the number of available tools to study histone residue for future research in yeast.



#### Histone H2A

#### Figure 7. Histone mutant libraries used in this thesis.

Upper colored row contains the amino acid primary sequence for the four yeast core histones. Lower rows indicate the amino acid mutants available for each position in the mutant libraries from Dai *et al* 2008 (H3 and H4) and Nakanishi *et al* 2008 (H2A and H2B). Above each primary sequence, schematic representation of histones' secondary structure (helix  $\alpha$ ) from Luger *et al* 1997.

#### 4.2 Mass spectrometry approaches

Histone mutants, as the ones described before, provide useful insides on the function of several histone residues. However, it does not demonstrate the *in vivo* existence of a PTM on a particular site.

A widely used approach to study histone PTMs is mass spectrometry (MS). MS allows a high throughput and in vivo detection of histone PTMs that has been instrumental to screen novel modifications in a wide range of organisms (Bonaldi, Imhof and Regula, 2004; Hyland et al., 2005; Arnaudo and Garcia, 2013; Zhao and Garcia, 2015; Noberini et al., 2018). One drawback of classic MS approaches is the use of trypsin to digest histones as part of the MS pipeline. Trypsin targets lysines and arginines and generates histone peptides around 4-20 amino acids long. However, lysines and arginines are highly enriched on histone tails, this generates smaller digested fragments that cannot be visualized by MS (discussed in El Kennani et al., 2018; and Simithy, Sidoli and Garcia, 2018). Several strategies have been recently implemented in order to avoid such limitation. One straightforward approach is to use other proteases that target less abundant amino acids such as aspartic acid (AspN) or glutamic acid (GluC). These proteases generate peptides around 40-50 amino acids that include the histone tails (Sidoli and Garcia, 2017b). Another approach is to chemically derivate unmodified lysines by the incorporation of a propionyl group that reduces the cleavage sites of trypsin, also generating bigger fragments (Garcia, Mollah, et al., 2007; Simithy, Sidoli and Garcia, 2018). Because both strategies generate bigger peptides, middle-down proteomics is required in order to resolve these

fragments by MS, instead of the classic bottom up approach used when digesting with trypsin (Garcia, Mollah, *et al.*, 2007; Sidoli and Garcia, 2017b; Simithy, Sidoli and Garcia, 2018). These two methods allow to resolve histone PTMs on histone tails. Another clear advantage is that by analyzing bigger fragments, coexisting PTMs are easily detected than in smaller peptides (Sidoli and Garcia, 2017a).

A pitfall of these MS strategies is that they tend to assess the global picture of histone PTMs. As previously mentioned, there is a whole range of histone PTMs coexisting in the same chromatin at the same time, with variable frequencies and locations. Hence, in bulk MS approaches, low abundant modifications are not efficiently detected and are diluted among the most abundant. Some strategies were developed to purify specific chromatin regions followed by a proteomic analysis. DNA binding proteins such as dCas9, TALENS or LexA are tethered to the desired loci, then the whole region is purified and the associated proteins, including histones, are analyzed by MS. These strategies allow to detect specific modifications occurring for instances in specific promoters or in close proximity to double strand breaks (Byrum *et al.*, 2012; Byrum, Taverna and Tackett, 2013; Waldrip *et al.*, 2014; Dai *et al.*, 2017; Wang *et al.*, 2017).

#### 4.3 Antibodies based approaches

Antibodies are also a very powerful tool to study histone PTM dynamics both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Companies such as ABCAM,

Covalab or Santa Cruz offer hundreds of different antibodies against histone modifications in a wide variety of formats and specificities. Antibodies are very instrumental not just to demonstrate the in vivo existence of a given modification, but also to determine its localization (ChIP or ChIPseq), its dynamics (Western blot techniques) or interactions (Co-IP). These techniques are less time consuming and often cheaper than proteomic strategies. However, the repertoire of available antibodies is often limited to the previously described histone modifications, lagging the study of less studied or novel histone PTMs. Moreover, the generation of new specific antibodies against histone PTMs is controversial and not always successful, especially regarding the specificity in recognizing the modified epitope (Egelhofer et al., 2011; Peach et al., 2012; Baker, 2015; Cornett, Dickson and Rothbart, 2017). Furthermore, the lot-to-lot differences between antibodies and their promiscuity often compromise the experimental reproducibility of antibody-based discoveries in the field. Despite the current efforts to address this issue, the use of antibodies is still problematic and open for discussion (Hattori et al., 2013; Baker, 2015; Kungulovski, Mauser and Jeltsch, 2015). Nevertheless, besides the abovementioned drawbacks, in the past years, antibodies against specific histone PTMs have been a very useful tool to study histone modifications and nucleosome dynamics in vivo.

**OBJECTIVES** 

Our group is interested in understanding the mechanisms by which transcription is regulated in response to environmental stresses. Because histones are known to play a key role on transcriptional regulation, the objectives of this project were to give insights into the role of histone post-translational modifications in response to stress.

Specifically, the main objectives of this PhD were:

- 1. Validation of the high throughput screening used to identify novel histone residues relevant for stress-mediated transcription.
- Characterization of the transcription phenotypes of H4-S47 and H4-T30 mutants upon osmotic and heat stress respectively.
- 3. Study the effects of H4-S47 and H4-T30 mutation on cell viability.
- 4. Characterization of the H4-S47 and H4-T30 phosphorylation *in vivo*.
- 5. Identification and characterization of the kinases modifying both residues *in vitro* and *in vivo*.
- 6. Selection and characterization of additional residues from the screening relevant for stress-mediated transcription.

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# A genetic analysis reveals the histone residues required for transcriptional reprogramming upon stress

Cristina Viéitez\*, Gerard Martínez-Cebrián\*, Carme Solé\*, René Böttcher, Sara Onebo, Marc Fabregat, Ali Shilatifard, Francesc Posas\*\* and Eulàlia de Nadal\*\*

\* These authors contributed equally to this work

\*\* Corresponding authors

Submitted in Nuclei Acid Research on June 2019, (under revision)

Viéitez C, Martínez-Cebrián G, Solé C, Böttcher R, Potel CM, Savitski MM, et al. A genetic analysis reveals novel histone residues required for transcriptional reprogramming upon stress. Nucleic Acids Res. 2020 Apr 17;48(7):3455–75. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkaa081

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Environmental stresses induce a dramatic reconfiguration of the yeast transcriptional program. This reprograming consists in the activation and repression of several hundreds of genes in a few minutes scale, which depends on the stress, its intensity and duration (Gasch et al., 2000; Causton et al., 2001; Capaldi et al., 2008; Pelet et al., 2011). MAPKs Hog1 and Mpk1 and the transcription factors Hsf1 and Msn2/4, among others, are in charge of coordinating such transcriptional response (Richter, Haslbeck and Buchner, 2010; de Nadal, Ammerer and Posas, 2011; Saito and Posas, 2012). Histone modifications and nucleosome dynamics are key to properly modulate stress-induced transcription. In stressresponsive genes, nucleosomes impose a physical barrier that impairs transcription factor and RNA-Pol II binding during transcription initiation; as well as they slow down polymerase elongation in the gene bodies during mRNA elongation (Joshi and Struhl, 2005; Shandilya and Roberts, 2012; Weiner et al., 2012; Bruzzone et al., 2018). Hence, to allow transcription, histores are transiently displaced from actively transcribed genes (Kulaeva, Hsieh and Studitsky, 2010; Petesch and Lis, 2012; Weiner et al., 2015).

Numerous factors control nucleosome dynamics. Chromatin remodelers such as SWI/SNF, RSC, INO80 and ISW1 use ATP to displace, evict or position histones across chromatin, facilitating or restricting transcription (Erkina, Tschetter and Erkine, 2008; Mas *et*  *al.*, 2009; Weiner *et al.*, 2012; Klopf *et al.*, 2017). Another critical layer of regulation involves the post-translational modification of histones in a wide variety of forms and sites (see introduction sections 3.3 and 3.4). The different combinations of PTMs decorating histones and their intricate network of crosstalk interactions have been associated to active or repressed transcription. Upon stress, there are some examples of histone PTMs that experience drastic changes, with specific marks being dynamically written or erased. More strikingly, some histone PTMs such as acetylation or H3-K4 tri-methylation change their role to a completely opposite function, from activating marks in steady-state conditions, to repressive marks upon stress (Weiner *et al.*, 2012; Magraner-Pardo *et al.*, 2014; Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2015).

Researchers in the field have used histone mutant libraries to study the function of specific residues in a wide variety of contexts. A classic and straight-forward approach is to assess mutant viability upon different stress conditions such as changes in temperature, diamide (reducing agent), acetic acid or upon DNA damage (Dai *et al.*, 2008; Huang *et al.*, 2009; Liu, Zhang and Zhang, 2014; Weiner *et al.*, 2015). However transcriptional studies have mainly focused on steady-state transcription of specific genes or by measuring telomere and rDNA silencing (Huang *et al.*, 2009; Hainer and Martens, 2011). Despite some studies also tested the incidence of such histone mutants on stress-induced transcription (Liu, Zhang and Zhang, 2014; Weiner *et al.*, 2015), much little is known regarding the role of specific histone residues in such transcriptional regulation. To fill this gap, we conducted a high throughput genetic screening assessing the histone residue requirements for proper osmotic and heat stress-induced transcription in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.

# Global map of histone residues required for stress-induced transcription

In order to systematically assess stress-induced transcription, we engineered yeast strains harboring a fluorescent reporter driven by different stress-responsive promoters. We chose the promoter of STL1 (pSTL1) that activates transcription upon osmotic stress, the promoter of HSP82 (pHSP82) that responds to heat stress and the ALD3 promoter (pALD3) that induces transcription upon both heat and osmotic stress. These three promoters are targeted by different transcription factors: Hot1 and Sko1 regulate pSTL1, Hsf1 regulates pHSP82 and Msn2/4 regulates pALD3 (Eastmond and Nelson, 2006; Capaldi et al., 2008; Ni et al., 2009). By using these three promoters, we were able to assess stress-induced transcription driven by different transcription factors and stresses. We mated these strains with a library of histone mutants (described in introduction, section 4.1) carrying mutations in all amino acids in histones H2A, H2B, H3 and H4. This new collection of mutant strains was stressed with either osmotic stress (0.4M NaCl) or heat stress (39°C) to activate the expression of the reporter (Fig 1A from manuscript). The fluorescence signal of each histone mutant was compared to its wild type to identify those that exhibited differences in such stress-induced transcription.
In our screening, 209 out of the total 498 histone residues mutated (approximately 42%) displayed transcriptional levels of the fluorescent reporter at least 10% different when compared with their wild type strain, for any type of mutation and promoter in response to osmotic and heat stress (Fig 1B and Table S1). This high number of residues relevant for transcription contrasts with the low ratio of essential residues for cell viability (around 5-10%) (Dai et al., 2008; Nakanishi et al., 2008). This data suggests that despite the high degree of conservation between species, nucleosome structure can accept a high degree of residue variation without compromising cell viability in optimal growing conditions. In contrast, dynamic transcription reprograming required by stress seems to tolerate less variation in the amino acid composition of histones. Other screenings using similar histone mutant libraries, but measuring rDNA or telomere silencing, obtained similar percentages of histone residues with phenotypic alterations (Dai et al., 2008; Jiang, Liu, Xu, et al., 2017).

Transcriptionally altered histone amino acid mutants were similarly distributed among the four core histones: 37.7% of H3 (51 of its 135 residues), 47% of H4 (48 of its 102 residues), 37.4% of H2A (49 of its 131 residues) and 46.9% of H2B (61 of its 130 residues) (Fig 1 and Table S1). These data suggest a similar contribution of the four proteins to nucleosome dynamics upon stress. When the three different promoters were analyzed, each of them had a similar number of affected residues, except for pHSP82. HSP82 promoter showed significantly altered basal transcription levels in 56 mutants whereas none other promoter had such basal

transcription defect. A plausible explanation for this phenomena may be the specific features of the *HSP82* promoter. Although transcription of *HSP82* is specifically induced upon heat stress, in basal conditions the transcription factor Hsf1 is already bound to the promoter (Gross *et al.*, 1993; Erkine *et al.*, 1999). This relaxes the chromatin blockade and primes the transcription machinery for a rapid activation in case of a sudden increase on temperature. As a consequence, this also results in higher levels of basal transcription compared to the less leaky promoters such as p*STL1* and p*ALD3*.

Furthermore, we observed an enrichment on H2A and H2B residues with defects on basal transcription for the p*HSP82* reporter compared to the lesser cases of H3 and H4. This could be explained by the fact that H2A-H2B dimers are more easily removed from histone octamers during transcription, compared to H3-H4 tetramers that are more stable on chromatin (Zhao, Herrera-Diaz and Gross, 2005; Kulaeva, Hsieh and Studitsky, 2010; Arimura *et al.*, 2012; Cole *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, mutants for H2A and H2B may be more prone to abandon the histone octamer. This in turn would destabilize the nucleosome and promote higher levels of permissive basal transcription as observed in our screening.

### Histone residues required for transcription upon stress are specific for each stress condition and promoter, potentially modifiable and mostly located on the nucleosome surface

In addition to a global picture of the relevant amino acids of the four core histones and the specificities for each promoter, our

screening also offered valuable information regarding the nature of the histone residues required for proper stress-induced transcription. Strikingly, there was little overlap between residues affected in different promoters for the same stress. Only 1 mutant residue displayed transcriptional alterations in both pALD3 and pHSP82reporter strains upon heat stress. Similarly, just 8 mutant residues overlapped between pALD3 and pSTL1 reporters upon osmotic stress (Fig 3A). It is well known that each promoter is regulated by different transcription factors: Msn2/4, Hsf1, Sko1 or Hot1 (reviewed in introduction, section 2.2); which can explain such a poor overlap. Along these lines, our results suggest that each promoter requires the modification of a unique and specific set of histone residues in order to modulate transcription despite being activated by the same extracellular stimuli.

Moreover, we also observed a modest overlap in the residues required for heat or osmotic stress for the same promoter (p*ALD3*qV heat stress vs osmostress, Fig 3A), as only 16 out of 60 heat and 55 osmo-affected histone mutants were transcriptionally affected in both stresses. Albeit each stress seems to require a specific set of histone residues, there is at least some degree of common residues, which seem to be involved in a shared histone regulation between heat and osmotic stress. Msn2/4 drives *ALD3* expression for heat and osmotic stress (Navarro-Aviño *et al.*, 1999) and work done by our group already described Rpd3 as a common regulatory histone deacetylase required for both stresses (de Nadal *et al.*, 2004; Ruiz-Roig *et al.*, 2010). Thus, it is likely that factors associated to these regulatory elements may be the ones requiring such a specific set of common histone residues. To further understand these specific histone requirements, it would be interesting to assess if these are shared between similar regulated genes (by either Msn2/4, Hsf1 or Hot1 and Sko1) by analyzing a broader panel of promoters.

histone residues modulate How these stress-induced transcription remains an open question. In some cases, it is tempting to assume that histone modifiers could target these residues. Certainly, modifiable residues such as lysines, arginines, threonines and serines rank at the top of the residues that were identify in our screening (Fig 3B). Individual histone mutants for residues whose modifications are known to modulate transcription were also identified in our screening. For instances: H3-K4me3 (Santos-rosa et al., 2002), H3-K36me3 (Strahl et al., 2002), H4-K20me (Nishioka et al., 2002; Garcia, Hake, et al., 2007), H3-K56ac (Williams, Truong and Tyler, 2008), H3-K122ac (Tropberger et al., 2013), H4-K31ub (Kim et al., 2013) and H3-K64ac/me3 (Di Cerbo et al., 2014), these last two described in mammals. These examples validate the potential of our screening to detect novel histone modifiable residues and new undescribed PTMs.

Remarkably, most of the histone mutant residues affecting transcription were located in theoretically accessible areas of the nucleosome, in either the tails, lateral or the disk surfaces according to Dai *et al* 2008 classification (Fig 3C). Only around 20% of the identified residues are buried inside the nucleosome and presumably holding a more structural function rather than regulatory.

Histone residue mutants that displayed altered transcription of the reporters were not randomly distributed. When mapped in the tridimensional structure, we can observe some residues that cluster together in some specific regions (Fig 2 and 3D). Interestingly, some of these regions are maintained whereas others differ between promoters and stresses. These regions could be docking sites for nucleosome binding proteins, create a catalytic pocket for a modifying enzyme or be necessary for histone-DNA or histonehistone interactions. Indeed, there are some regions known to be relevant for transcription that are among these clusters. As an example, the residues in the nucleosome acidic patch H2A-E57, H2A-D65 and H2B-E116, which were identified in our screening, are known to be necessary to form higher order of chromatin FACT-mediated compaction nucleosome and for assembly/disassembly (Hodges, Gloss and Wyrick, 2017). Another known group of residues derived from our screening are arginines that directly contact with DNA (for example: H2A-R43, H2A-R78, H2B-R36, H3-R83 and H3-R63) whose mutations were described previously to affect transcription (Hodges et al., 2015). Another example is the region comprising residues G15 to K20 in histone H4 N-terminal tail that it is necessary for proper H3-K79 methylation, that when mutated, also caused defects on stressinduced transcription (see introduction section 3.4 and introduction Fig 6) (Fingerman, Li and Briggs, 2007; Worden et al., 2019). Overall, the identification of mutants in these histone regions exemplify the potential of our approach to detect new

uncharacterized sites relevant for nucleosome dynamics upon heat and osmotic stress.

# The phosphomimetic mutation of H4-S47 is detrimental for proper activation of genes responsive to osmostress

After a detailed analysis of the screening results, we selected individual residues relevant for stress-induced transcription for further investigation aiming to report novel histone PTMs. We chose the H4-S47 based on the transcriptional defects displayed by its replacement to aspartic acid (H4-S47D mutant) upon osmotic stress and its accessible position within the nucleosome. This serine is located in the L1-L2 loop of the H3-H4 tetramer at the lateral surface of the nucleosome that closely contacts DNA (Hall *et al.*, 2009). The phosphomimetic H4-S47D mutant rendered cells with a decreased expression of the p*ALD3* reporter upon osmotic stress (Fig 4A). In contrast, the H4-S47 mutation to alanine (H4-S47A) had no appreciable phenotypic effect.

It is worth mentioning, that the constructs expressing the stress-dependent promoter reporter used in the histone mutant collections for the screening were not integrated in their endogenous loci (see materials and methods). For this reason, and to validate screening results, we analyzed the mRNA expression of endogenous osmo-responsive genes by northern blot. Similarly to the results obtained from the screening, the H4-S47D mutant showed a clear down-regulation of *ALD3* expression upon stress, whereas the H4-S47A behaved as the wild type strain (Fig 4B). The

same pattern of expression was observed for HSP12, another osmoresponsive gene. To broaden our perspective, we performed RNA sequencing for the H4-S47D mutant upon osmostress (0.4M NaCl for 10 minutes). From the 577 stress-induced genes observed in the H4 wild type strain, the H4-S47D mutant displayed downregulation (at least by 2-fold change) of 385 of them (66.72%) (Fig 4C and D). The reference genes ALD3 and HSP12 genes were among those down-regulated genes. On the other hand, there was also a high degree of stress-repressed genes whose expression was up-regulated in the H4-S47D mutant (53.84%). Regarding the nature of these genes, there was no specific enrichment for a particular subcategory, nor any common preference for a transcription factor or regulatory element, except that all of them are stress-responsive genes. This lack of a clear pattern within the altered genes suggests that the H4-S47D mutant interferes with stress induced and repressed genes in a general manner.

Upon osmotic stress, there is a global redistribution of the transcriptional machinery on the genome that depends on the duration and intensity of such stress (Gasch *et al.*, 2000; Pelet *et al.*, 2011; Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2012). On housekeeping genes, the occupancy of RNA-Pol II and other transcription activators is reduced upon stress, whereas the polymerase machinery and stress-dependent transcriptional activators are specifically recruited to osmo-responsive genes (Proft and Struhl, 2004; Miller *et al.*, 2011; Nadal-Ribelles *et al.*, 2012). This redistribution results in a stress-dependent expression pattern of genes that are up and down-regulated (Fig 4C and Audrey P Gasch *et al.*, 2000). Our RNA

sequencing results suggested that the phosphomimetic mutation of the H4-S47 does not only affect stress-induced gene expression but rather transcription regulation in a more general manner as it also alters the expression pattern of the down-regulated genes.

These transcriptional defects correlated with impaired growth of the H4-S47D mutant upon osmotic stress as assayed by growth curves and spot assays (Fig 4E and F). This observation seems to indicate that the transcriptional defects of the H4-S47D mutant ultimately limit its ability to adapt and restore growth upon osmotic stress when compared to wild type cells.

In addition to the effects of the H4-S47D mutant on stressdependent transcription, RNA sequencing analysis also uncovered differences on non-stress genes (basal) compared to the wild type (Fig S1A). Interestingly, the H4-S47D mutant was notoriously prone to promote abnormally induced basal transcription (373 genes were up-regulated at least 2-fold compared to wild type) whereas only 23 genes were down-regulated. Of note, according to our analysis (Fig 4C), approximately 37% (138 of the 373 genes) of these basally induced genes fall into the category of osmo-induced genes. This suggests that despite the H4-S47D mutation affects transcription in a general manner it is prominently biased to stressresponsive genes. From our approach, we cannot discriminate the exact impact of such basal defects on the later transcriptional response.

If phosphorylation-mimic mutant is rendering a negative effect on stress-induced transcription, we could speculate that the impairment of such modification in a H4-S47A mutant may result in an enhanced up-regulation of osmo-induced genes. So far, we did not observe such effect in the screening nor in the northern blot assays (Fig 4A and B). This lack of up-regulation by the H4-S47A mutant could be attributed to other negative regulators that modulate transcription as described in the introductory sections 2.2 and 2.3. We have not addressed by RNA sequencing the overall gene expression pattern of the H4-S47A mutant. Elucidating the phenotype of the A mutation would help to decipher the role of the H4-S47 residue in the transcriptional response upon osmotic stress.

We have not conducted structural assays to determine the effect of the H4-S47D mutant on nucleosome structure. However, due to its close proximity to DNA, one could speculate that the addition of a negative charge in this residue may have a destabilizing effect on the nucleosome structure. Indeed, a previous work demonstrated that the phosphomimetic H4-S47D mutant decreases nucleosome occupancy and causes promiscuous transcription (Hainer and Martens, 2011). This fits with our observation for stress-repressed genes and for the basal gene induction. On the other hand, other authors also reported that a similar phosphomimetic mutant (H4-S47E) causes an increase in telomere and rDNA silencing (Hyland et al., 2005). These regions are composed of less accessible chromatin for the transcriptional machinery in a way, similar to the down-regulation that we observed for stress-induced genes. These divergent transcriptional phenotypes suggest that the H4-S47D mutation has a specific effect depending on the genomic region. Further research is required to determine the specificities of these genomic regions and how the residue H4-S47 interacts with them upon osmotic stress.

# Cla4 and Ste20 PAKs phosphorylate H4-S47 and regulate the transcription of osmo-responsive genes upon stress

In mammals, phosphorylation of H4-S47 has been previously detected and characterized in vivo by mass spectrometry (Zhang et al., 2003; Kang et al., 2011; Zhang, Wang and Zhang, 2013). None of these previous studies neither assessed H4-S47 phosphorylation in response to osmostress nor in yeast. To characterize the role of H4-S47 phosphorylation upon stress, we screened the yeast kinome looking for potential kinase(s) performing such modification. We designed and purified from E. coli short H4 peptides (from amino acids 38 to 57) containing either the wild type H4-S47 or the nonphosphorylable alanine substitute (H4-S47A peptide). Then we assayed these peptides against TAP-tagged kinases purified from yeast in an in vitro kinase assay with radiolabeled ATP. Out of the 122 kinases assayed, 6 of them phosphorylated the histone peptide containing the H4-S47. 3 of these 6 kinases, Cla4, Ste20 and Skm1, were not able to phosphorylate the H4-S47A peptide, indicating that the phosphorylation was specific for the H4-S47 (Fig 5A and additional Fig 1A from this thesis). Cla4 and Skm1 are paralogs in this reason and because Skm1 showed less yeast, for phosphorylation than Cla4, we chose to further characterize only Cla4 and Ste20. We then confirmed that both kinases, Cla4 and Ste20, phosphorylated *in vitro* the full-length histone H4 and not the full-length H4-S47A protein (Fig 5B).



#### Additional figure 1. Kinase assay screening for H4-S47.

(A) A screening based on a kinase assay identified 6 kinases out of 122 kinases assayed (dark blue circle) that phosphorylated a fused GST-short histone peptide (amino acids 38 to 57) containing the H4-S47. From these, 3 kinases (Cla4, Ste20 and Skm1) phosphorylated the H4-S47 peptide and not the H4-S47A peptide. (B) Skm1 phosphorylates H4-S47 *in vitro* (arrow). Fused GST-short peptides containing the H4-S47 (WT) or the mutated version (S47A) were used as substrates. Empty GST protein (Ø) and no substrate (-) were used as negative controls. Radiolabeled peptides were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to a nylon membrane, and detected by autoradiography. TAP-tagged kinases and GST-tagged histone peptides were detected by western blot. Similar results were obtained for Cla4 and Ste20 (manuscript figure 5B).

To assess the phosphorylation of H4-S47 *in vivo*, we tested several commercial and custom-made antibodies against the modification but none was specific enough to monitor the phosphorylation. Currently, we are addressing this question by using MS approaches, however, up-to-date we were not able to show direct *in vivo* evidences of H4-S47 phosphorylation.

Kinases Cla4 and Ste20 are integral components of the HOG pathway that orchestrates the response to osmotic stress by phosphorylating the MAP3K Ste11 (see introduction section 1.1 and Fig 1). Of note, these kinases are the yeast orthologs of the human PAK2 kinase family that were previously described to phosphorylate the H4-S47 residue in humans (Kang et al., 2011). In 293T and HeLa cells, H4-S47 phosphorylation by PAK2 increases the affinity of HIRA (histone chaperones) for the H3.3-H4 tetramer. This generates a redistribution of H3.3 variant across the genome in detriment of the canonical H3.1 (Kang et al., 2011). Several chaperones mediate H3-H4 positioning in *Saccharomyces* cerevisiae, some of them are orthologs of the human HIRA complex (Gurard-Levin, Quivy and Almouzni, 2014), but their role in H4-S47 mediated gene silencing still needs to be determined. Another relevant question to address is how H4-S47 phosphorylation mediates transcription down-regulation upon osmotic stress.

Because the phosphomimetic H4-S47D showed reduced mRNA levels for several osmo-responsive genes upon stress, we then tested if a constitutively active kinase Cla4 (Cla4- $\Delta$ N) had similar effects on stress-induced transcription. Indeed, stressed cells expressing the Cla4- $\Delta$ N were not able to equally induce transcription of the selected osmo-responsive genes as cells expressing wild type Cla4 (Fig 5C). This result supports our conclusion for the effect of the phosphorylation of H4-S47 on stress-induced transcription (Fig 4B).

Of note, both kinases Cla4 and Ste20 localized at the promoters of *ALD3* and *HSP12* upon 5 minutes of osmotic stress (Fig 5D). Interestingly, such binding was dependent on upstream activation of both kinases by the Sho1 branch and transcription activation by Hog1, but it was independent of the down-stream

activation of Stel1 (Fig 5D). A previous study already reported that under anaerobic conditions both kinases translocate to the nucleus and regulate transcription (Lin *et al.*, 2009). This suggests that upon osmotic stress, once Cla4 and Ste20 are activated by their upstream factors (introduction Fig 1), both kinases translocate to the nucleus to localize to osmo-responsive promoters where they may make contact with histones.

Cla4 and Ste20 are not only activated upon osmotic stress. Polarized growth and the mating pheromones response pathways also result in Cla4 and Ste20 activation (Holly and Blumer, 1999; Bardwell, 2005; Park and Bi, 2007). These pathways share several elements with the HOG pathway such as the Cla4 and Ste20 activation by the GTPase Cdc42 and the downstream phosphorylation of Stell by the two kinases. Moreover, the activation of these two pathways results in changes of the transcriptional program in yeast (Cullen and Sprague, 2012; Merlini, Dudin and Martin, 2013). Despite these similarities, the polarized growth pathway and the mating pheromone pathway are activated by different means than the HOG pathway. Interestingly, as part of the response to anaerobic conditions, Cla4 and Ste20 translocate to the nucleus, associate with the transcription activator Sut1 and inhibit expression of sterol uptake genes (Lin et al., 2009). Cla4 and Ste20 kinase activity is required to mediate such transcriptional inhibition whereas downstream signaling by Stel1 is not necessary (Lin et al., 2009). These observations in sterol uptake partially resemble our discoveries upon osmotic stress. It would be interesting to assess if Cla4/Ste20 regulate the transcriptional

program upon osmotic stress through H4-S47 by a similar mechanism than the one modulating the sterol uptake.

Human phosphatases PP1 $\alpha$ , PP1 $\beta$  and Wip-1 were proposed to remove H4-S47 phosphorylation *in vivo* (Zhang, Wang and Zhang, 2013). The only annotated yeast ortholog of these phosphatases is the serine/threonine phosphatase Glc7 (Offley and Schmidt, 2019). No direct evidence has ever linked this phosphatase with the yeast H4-S47 nor osmotic stress. However, histones are a well-known target of Glc7 (Hsu *et al.*, 2000; Ramaswamy *et al.*, 2003; Bazzi *et al.*, 2010). It would be interesting to test if Glc7 or any other yeast phosphatases remove H4-S47 phosphorylation.

Overall, our results suggest that Cla4 and Ste20 phosphorylate H4-S47 and that such modification has an effect on the remodeling of the transcriptional program upon osmotic stress.

## H4-T30A and H4-T30D mutants are not able to properly regulate transcription upon heat stress

Another interesting residue uncovered from the transcriptional screening is the H4-T30. Following the same rational as for the H4-S47, we focused on the H4-T30 because it displayed clear transcriptional defects upon heat stress and its location within the nucleosome. More precisely, this threonine is located next to the junction between the N-terminal tail and the helix  $\alpha$ 1 of histone H4 (Luger *et al.*, 1997). In our screening, the non-modifiable alanine mutant H4-T30A showed reduced expression of the fluorescent reporter from the *ALD3* promoter upon heat stress. In contrast, the

phosphomimetic mutant (H4-T30D) had no detectable defects when compared to wild type (Fig 6A).

Following the developed same strategy for the characterization of the H4-S47 mutants, we validated H4-T30A defects on transcription in response to heat stress on the endogenous expression of ALD3 and CTT1 by northern blot (Fig 6B). However, when we analyzed the H4-T30A mutant by RNA sequencing, we found a very modest number of significantly affected genes. Only 15 of the 736 heat-induced genes (2% of the total) had reduced levels of mRNA compared to wild type, ALD3 was among these few genes (Fig 6C and D). Next, based on the data from the northern blot analysis of the H4-T30D mutant, which indicated some degree of ALD3 down-regulation (Fig 6B ALD3 at 15 minutes), we also performed RNA sequencing on the phoshomimetic mutant. This genome wide analysis demonstrated that the H4-T30D mutation caused more severe defects on transcription upon heat stress, with a high number of stress-induced genes down-regulated (approximately 27%), while 29% of the stress-repressed genes were up-regulated (Fig 7A). Selected genes from RNA sequencing were validated by northern blot (Fig 7B). The H4-T30D mutant had a modest effect on basal transcription, but clear effects on stress-induced transcription (Fig S1C). Thus, the addition of a negative charge on the residue H4-T30 massively deregulates transcription of heat-responsive genes upon heat stress. Corresponding to its transcriptional alteration, the H4-T30D mutant showed impaired growth upon heat stress when compared to wild type and H4-T30A mutant both in growth curves and spot assays (Fig 7C and D).

To further characterize the role of H4-T30 upon heat stress, we screened for kinases that phosphorylate the threonine 30 in a kinase screening similar to the one performed for the H4-S47. We generated and purified from *E. coli* a peptide containing wild type H4-T30 or the non-phosphorylable H4-T30A mutant (from amino acids 2 to 46). The kinase screening yielded, 2 kinases (Ste11 and Cdc5) that were able to phosphorylate the H4-T30 and not the alanine substitute (additional Fig 2). However, we could only reproduce in dedicated experiments the phosphorylation by the MAPK3 Ste11 (Fig 7F). We then tested the effect of *STE11* deletion on gene expression. Correspondingly, we found that the *ste11* strain showed similar defects on *ALD3* and *CTT1* transcription than the H4-T30A mutant (Fig 7F), suggesting a possible link between the kinase and this histone residue.



#### Additional figure 2. Kinase assay screening for H4-T30.

(A) A kinase assay screening identified out of 120 kinases assayed 17 kinases (dark blue circle) that phosphorylated a fused GST-short histone peptide (amino acids 2 to 46) containing the H4-T30. From these 17, 2 kinases (Cdc5 and Ste11) phosphorylated the H4-T30 peptide (WT) and not the H4-T30A (B). Radiolabeled peptides were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to a nylon membrane, and detected by autoradiography. TAP-tagged kinases and GST-tagged histone peptides were detected by western blot.

As mentioned before, the kinase Stell is a core component of the HOG, mating pheromone and the polarized growth pathways. Besides its well-known roles as MAP3K in these pathways, several papers describe that Stell is also activated and has an activating crosstalk role on the CWI pathway upon thermal and cell wall stress by phosphorylating the MAP2K Mkk1 (see introduction section 1.2 and Fig 2) (García *et al.*, 2009; Jin *et al.*, 2015; Leng and Song, 2016). These studies and our data suggest that Stell may have a role on modulating the transcriptional response generated by the CWI pathway through H4-T30 modification.

Of note, the kinases modifying residues H4-S47 and H4-T30 are integral parts of the MAPK pathways that respond upon osmotic and heat stress. As described in the instruction section 1, upon stress, MAPKs Hog1 and Mpk1 translocate to the nucleus to activate transcription. Our results suggest that other upstream members of their pathways as MAP4K Cla4, Ste20 and MAP3K Ste11 are also implicated in transcription regulation upon stress. Their exact regulatory role still needs to be determined, but these kinases may be part of novel regulatory feedback loops regulating stress-induced transcription by targeting histone dynamics upon heat and osmotic stress.

To date, nothing has been reported on the modification or specific function of H4-T30. Our genome wide analysis suggested that the H4-T30 phosphorylation has a deleterious effect on heat stress-transcription. The neighboring H4-K31 is a well-known residue, which is modified mainly by ubiquitination, methylation and acetylation among other modifications in humans and yeast (Freitas, Sklenar and Parthun, 2004; Garcia, Hake, *et al.*, 2007; Xie *et al.*, 2012; Kim *et al.*, 2013). The exact role of such a broad panel of modifications has not been well established yet. Some reports suggest that human H4-K31 ubiquitination has a destabilizing effect on nucleosomes and hence it acts as a transcription activating mark (Kim *et al.*, 2013; Machida *et al.*, 2016). In contrast, yeast H4-K31 mutants have increased levels of telomeric and rDNA silencing and decreased binding of the transcription elongation factor Spt16 (Hyland *et al.*, 2005; Nguyen *et al.*, 2013). Thus, due to its close proximity, H4-T30 phosphorylation may interfere with H4-K31 modification by altering its docking for modifying enzymes. Alternatively, a specific H4-T30 post-translational modification could also act as an active regulatory mechanism that modulates H4-K31 modification.

Moreover, in our screening, the residues close to the H4-T30, from H4-I26 to H4-I29, have similar altered transcription of the reporter upon heat stress (Fig 2). Some previous screenings reported phenotypic alterations of histone mutants in this region but no particular function was associated to them (Huang *et al.*, 2009). Instead, work done on humans suggests that this particular H4 Nterminal region may have a structural function in the histone octamer by interacting with several other histone residues through hydrogen bonds (Montellier *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, the transcriptional phenotypes of the H4-T30 may also be caused by the interplay with its surrounding region.

### Further characterization of novel histone residues relevant for stress-induced transcription

Our screening also highlighted the relevance of other individual residues required for proper stress-induced transcription. This opens the possibility to describe novel histone PTMs that define specific mechanisms for histone dynamics. To narrow down the list of 209 histone residues that showed altered transcription (Table S1), we conducted a high throughput viability assay upon stress. We spotted in agarose plates the mutants of the 209 histone residues and grow them for 3 days either upon osmotic (1.2M NaCl) or heat stress (39°C). Viability was scored by comparing to histone wild type strains. This viability assay indicated that 53 out of the 209 histone residues that were identified for having transcriptional alterations had also growth defects upon stress. Next, we selected the residues that were more accessible to regulatory elements, based on their location within the nucleosome (lateral, tail and disk). We discarded the histone residues classified as buried assuming that the phenotypes observed in their mutants could be due to alterations of the nucleosome structure. Finally, because we aim to identify novel histone modifications, we also filtered out residues that cannot be post-translationally modified. Our selection process rendered 29 histone residues that were identified in the transcriptional screening for having transcriptional defects and impaired growth upon stress, that are accessible and modifiable (Additional Fig 3). Selected residues were systematically assayed by northern blot to validate the screening results and to confirm such transcriptional defects upon stress. In addition, we conducted growth curve assays to

selected residues to add complementary information of these histone mutants.



Additional figure 3. Schematic pipeline to select histone residues for further study from the transcriptional screening.

From top to bottom. From the 209 histone residues identified in our high throughput transcriptional screening, 53 of them showed altered growth upon heat or osmotic stress. From these 53 histone residues, 39 were located in accessible regions according to die *et al* 2008 classification. From these, 29 are histone residues that can be post-translationally modified.

One interesting new candidate to follow up is the lysine 64 in H3 (H3-K64). This lysine is located on the lateral surface of the histone octamer in close proximity with the inner gyre of DNA (Luger *et al.*, 1997). In mouse embryonic stem cells, H3-K64 is found acetylated in actively transcribed regions (Di Cerbo *et al.*, 2014). The addition of this acetyl group neutralizes the positive charge in the lysine residue destabilizing the nucleosome structure. On the other hand, during mouse embryo development, H3-K64 methylation has an opposite effect and correlates with

heterochromatin and transcriptionally inactive regions (Daujat et al., 2009). Of note, up to date, there is no evidence for H3-K64 modification in yeast. By northern blot analysis, the non-modifiable H3-K64A mutant caused almost no ALD3, HSP12 and CTT1 gene expression, while having a much modest effect on HSP82 and STL1 in response to heat and osmostress (additional Fig 4A and 4B). These results suggested that the modification of this histone residue in yeast has a profound effect on stress-induced transcription for a particular subset of genes, while others remain largely unchanged. Following, the H3-K64Q acetyl mimetic mutant resulted in a much milder down-regulation of stress-induced genes (additional Fig 4A and 4B). On the other hand, the H3-K64R mutant, that retains the positive charge and can be methylated but not acetylated, causes a transcription up-regulation of the selected genes (additional Fig 4A and 4B). Overall, these results seem to indicate that the dynamic modification of this histone residue has a profound effect on stressinduced transcription. It would be worth testing by RNA sequencing the genome wide degree of such transcriptional defects to clearly define the genes regulated by the H3-K64 modification. Moreover, addressing by MS or antibody based techniques (if available) if any PTMs can be identified on H3-K64 and their dynamics upon stress would help better characterize the role of this histone residue. Additional investigation will be also required to elucidate the exact role of this residue in the transcriptional reprograming shared upon heat and osmotic stress.



### Additional figure 4. Stress-induced transcription analysis of H3-K64 mutants upon heat and osmotic stress.

H3 WT and the H3-K64A, Q and R mutant strains were subjected to heat stress (39°C) (**A**) or osmostress (0.4M NaCl) (**B**) for the indicated times. Total mRNA was assayed by northern blot with radiolabeled probes for *ALD3*, *HSP12*, *CTT1*, *HSP82* and *STL1* (stress-responsive genes) and *ENO1* (loading control). RNA quantification is expressed in percentage as the ration of mRNA levels normalized by *ENO1*.

In addition to amino acids that may be potentially modified, the transcriptional screening also offered valuable information about typically unmodifiable histone residues whose function may be also relevant in the context of stress. One example of such residue is the leucine 60 in H3 (H3-L60), which is located in the disk surface of the nucleosome. The leucine substitution to alanine highly increased the expression of both heat and osmo-induced genes (additional Fig 5A and 5B). Such clear effects on stress-induced transcription may be caused by a structural role of this leucine within the nucleosome. Therefore, its mutation may destabilize nucleosome structure and thus facilitate higher rates of transcription. Alternatively, the observed effects of the H3-L60A mutant could be caused by a deficient interaction with other regulatory elements. For instance, H3-L60 mutation may alter a docking site for proteins that modulate nucleosome dynamics. In order to fully decipher the role of H3-L60 in stress induced transcription further studies assessing its structural relevant will be required. Overall, these observations and other published data (Hainer and Martens, 2011; García-Pichardo et al., 2017; Hodges, Gloss and Wyrick, 2017) point out that unmodifiable residues may have functions equally relevant for transcription than modifiable amino acids.

These additional two residues further exemplify the potential of our transcriptional screening to identify novel histone residues relevant for stress-induced transcription. The study of these and other novel residues opens new possibilities for future research, that will ultimately contribute to add new information to the current understanding of histone dynamics and regulation upon stress.



### Additional figure 5. Stress-induced transcription analysis of H3-L60 mutants upon heat and osmotic stress.

H3 WT and H3-L60A mutant strains were subjected to heat stress (39°C) (A) or osmostress (0.4M NaCl) (B) for the indicated times and analyzed by northern blot as in additional figure 4.

#### PERSPECTIVES

The transcriptional screening presented in this thesis has been instrumental to identify the histone residues required to drive proper stress-induced transcription upon osmotic and heat stress. The high number of residues identified revealed the complex interplay of histone requirements to finely tune transcription in response to stress. It also uncovered several histone regions that are important for such transcriptional outburst. These regions may be relevant due to their physical properties, for instance, by interacting with DNA or by stabilizing the nucleosome structure. However, they could also function as landing platforms for proteins specifically required for stress-mediated transcription. The poor overlap of histones residues between pALD3, pHSP82 and pSTL1 adds another layer of specificity to the already known regulatory differences of the three stress-dependent promoters analyzed here. Moreover, the modest overlap observed between type of stresses (osmotic and heat stress) also suggests that the mechanisms governing both transcriptional responses differ also at the histone level. The mechanisms and molecular players behind such differences still need to be fully characterized.

To further demonstrate the potential of our screening, we characterized two new residues relevant for transcription regulation upon osmotic and heat stress, the H4-S47 and H4-T30 respectively. Our discoveries pointed out the possibility of two novel negative feedback loops modulating stress-induced transcription in yeast. Further research is required in order to complete the mechanisms behind such observations. From the screening, we also selected

116

other histone residues and started to characterize them in order to identify novel histone PTMs relevant for stress-mediated transcription.

In the thesis presented here, we were not able to demonstrate the in vivo presence of H4-S47 nor H4-T30 phosphorylation. We assayed a number of commercial and custom-made antibodies but none of them was specific enough for the identification of such modifications. To solve this drawback, we started to implement a single locus proteomic technique named CRISPR-ChAP-MS developed in Waldrip et al., 2014. As described in the introduction, we chose this technique for its potential to retrieve a single genomic locus by affinity purification of a TAP tagged death Cas9 (dCas9) directed with a guide RNA (gRNA) to a locus of interest. Then, proteins associated to this locus, including histones and their modifications, are identified by MS. We plan to design gRNAs specific for stress-induced promoters such as ALD3, HSP12, STL1 or HSP82 and perform the technique on cells treated with heat and osmotic stress. By this approach, we will be able to define in vivo the histone PTMs that are specifically placed or removed upon stress in these specific loci.

Because of the high homology between yeast and human histones and some common regulatory mechanisms, our results are also relevant to better understanding histone dynamics in mammals. Moreover, as defects on histone modifications and their missregulation are associated to several high impact disease such as cancer or neurodegenerative diseases (Soragni *et al.*, 2012; Anderson and Turko, 2015; Anderson *et al.*, 2015; Noberini *et al.*, 2018), our work can also bring new insights relevant for human health research.

Personal contribution to this work: the initial transcriptional screening was performed by CV and CS. I participated in the validation of the screening, and the experimental design, execution and discussion of the results described in this article for the residues H4-S47 and H4-T30 and the characterization of additional potential interesting histone residues.

CONCLUSIONS

The following conclusions can be reached from this PhD thesis:

- A high throughput screening has served to reveal histone residues required for proper heat and osmotic stress-induced transcription.
- In the screening, mutants of 209 histone residues show defects on stress-induced transcription.
- In general, the subset of histone residues identified in the screening are promoter and stress specific, suggesting a modest overlap between histone regulation for the three promoters analyzed and for heat and osmotic stress.
- Mutations on modifiable and accessible residues show higher rates of transcriptional defects in response to stress.
- The H4-S47D mutant show transcriptional defects on osmotic stress-mediated transcriptional reprograming and increased levels of basal transcription of several genes. This suggests a detrimental effect on transcription of the H4-S47 modification.
- The yeast homologs of the mammalian PAK2 kinase family, Cla4 and Ste20, phosphorylate the H4-S47 and localize at osmo-responsive promoters upon osmotic stress. Correspondingly, a Cla4 hyperactive mutant mimics the transcriptional defects of H4-S47D.

- The H4-T30A and H4-T30D mutants show altered transcription upon heat stress, pointing out that the dynamic modification of the H4-T30 residue is necessary for a proper transcriptional response upon heat stress.
- The yeast HOG pathway MAP3K Ste11 phosphorylates H4-T30 and its deletion mimics H4-T30A down-regulation in heat-induced transcription.
- The transcriptional validation and characterization of novel histone residues identified in the screening serves to select additional histone residues, such as the H3-K64 and H3-L60, for further studies of their role on stressmediated transcription.

### **SUPPLEMENTARY ARTICLE**

# Shaping the transcriptional landscape through MAPK signaling

Mariona Nadal-Ribelles\*, Carme Solé\*, Gerard Martínez-Cebrián\*, Francesc Posas\*\* and Eulàlia de Nadal\*\*

\* These authors contributed equally to this work

\*\* Corresponding authors

From the volume: gene expression and control edited by Fumiaki Uchiumi,

#### IntechOpen on April 2019

Nadal-Ribelles M, Solé C, Martínez-Cebrián G, Posas F, de Nadal E. Shaping the Transcriptional Landscape through MAPK Signaling. In: Gene Expression and Control. IntechOpen; 2019. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.80634

#### DISCUSSION

In eukaryotes, MAPK pathways modulate a wide variety of cellular behaviors. These pathways sense extracellular stimuli, integrate and transmit the information to coordinate the appropriate response to inputs. Part of this response is devoted to modulate and control specific gene expression programs. In this review, we compiled and discussed current knowledge regarding the control of MAPK pathways on transcription regulation from yeast to mammals.

MAPKs regulate gene expression all the way from transcription initiation, elongation and termination to mRNA modification, export and translation (Cargnello and Roux, 2011; Seger and Wexler, 2015). Their activities modulate the final transcriptional outcome and the levels of protein expression in numerous and different ways as detailed in the review. MAPKs can act as transcriptional repressors or activators depending on the cellular needs and context. Due to their central role, MAPK pathways miss-regulation is relevant in several human pathologies such as cancer, inflammatory and immunologic diseases (Gubern *et al.*, 2016; Seidel *et al.*, 2016; Maik-Rachline *et al.*, 2018).

Central components of the MAPK signaling cascades are generally well defined. In contrast, detailed characterization of several down-stream and up-stream elements is still lacking. As an example, in mammals the cohort of upstream sensors activating MAPKs and they interplay have not been complete characterized

#### SUPPLEMENTARY ARTICLE

yet. Also, the trans-activating mechanisms that modulate MAPK activation through other MAPKs pathways are poorly understood. Additionally, the gaps in understanding MAPK-mediated gene termination and the control of non-coding RNA synthesis are also significant. Another research gap is the elucidation of the exact role of the MAPK2 (for instance MEK1/2 and MKK6) in gene expression. Although it is well accepted that they associate to chromatin, their role there is still controversial.

MAPK pathway activation, outcomes and regulations often vary in a cell-type specific manner. However, MAPK pathways and their control on gene expression have been studied in multiple model organisms and in different cell lines. Therefore, although such mechanisms may be conserved across cell lines and organisms, an integrative view of all these observations is still missing.

Further investigation is required to fully understand the above-mentioned gaps to understand the role of MAPK pathways in the context of disease. It is also necessary to tackle the high degree of variable behaviors and responses depending on cell type to develop treatments that are more specific and effective. Ultimately, MAPK pathway control represents an opportunity to develop novel targeted therapeutic treatments to life-threatening diseases.

Personal contribution to this work: I have taken part in all steps of the writing, editing and revision of this review article.
**REFERENCES** 

- Adrover, M. À. *et al.* (2011) 'Time-dependent quantitative multicomponent control of the G 1-S network by the stress-activated protein kinase Hog1 upon osmostress', *Science Signaling*, 4(192), p. ra63.
- Ahn, S.-H. H. *et al.* (2005) 'Sterile 20 kinase phosphorylates histone H2B at serine 10 during hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis in S. cerevisiae', *Cell*, 120(1), pp. 25–36.
- Akey, C. W. and Luger, K. (2003) 'Histone chaperones and nucleosome assembly', *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*. Elsevier Current Trends, 13(1), pp. 6–14.
- Alepuz, P. M. et al. (2001) 'Stress-induced map kinase Hog1 is part of transcription activation complexes.', *Molecular cell*, 7(4), pp. 767–77.
- Alepuz, P. M. *et al.* (2003) 'Osmostress-induced transcription by Hot1 depends on a Hog1-mediated recruitment of the RNA Pol II', *EMBO Journal*, 22(10), pp. 2433–2442.
- Allfrey, V. G., Faulkner, R. and Mirsky, A. E. (1964) 'Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 51(5), pp. 786–94.
- Anderson, K. W. *et al.* (2015) 'Histone H3 Ser57 and Thr58 phosphorylation in the brain of 5XFAD mice', *FEBS Open Bio*, 5, pp. 550–556.
- Anderson, K. W. and Turko, I. V. (2015) 'Histone post-translational modifications in frontal cortex from human donors with Alzheimer's disease.', *Clinical proteomics*, 12(1), p. 26.
- Andrews, A. J. et al. (2010) 'The Histone Chaperone Nap1 Promotes Nucleosome Assembly by Eliminating Nonnucleosomal Histone DNA Interactions', *Molecular Cell*, 37(6), pp. 834–842.

Arimura, Y. et al. (2012) 'Structural analysis of the hexasome,

lacking one histone H2A/H2B dimer from the conventional nucleosome', *Biochemistry*, 51(15), pp. 3302–3309.

- Arnaudo, A. M. and Garcia, B. A. (2013) 'Proteomic characterization of novel histone post-translational modifications.', *Epigenetics & chromatin*, 6(1), p. 24.
- Azad, G. K. *et al.* (2018) 'Modifying Chromatin by Histone Tail Clipping', *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 430(18), pp. 3051– 3067.
- Azad, G. K. and Tomar, R. S. (2016) 'Partial purification of histone H3 proteolytic activity from the budding yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae.', *Yeast*, 33(6), pp. 217–26.
- Baetz, K. *et al.* (2001) 'Transcriptional Coregulation by the Cell Integrity Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Slt2 and the Cell Cycle Regulator Swi4', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21(19), pp. 6515–6528.
- Baker, M. (2015) 'Blame it on the antibodies', *Nature*, 521(7552), pp. 274–276.
- Baker, S. P. *et al.* (2010) 'Histone H3 Thr 45 phosphorylation is a replication-associated post-translational modification in S. cerevisiae', *Nature Cell Biology*, 12(3), pp. 294–298.
- Bannister, A. J. and Kouzarides, T. (2011) 'Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications', *Cell Research*, 21(3), pp. 381–395.
- Bardwell, L. (2005) 'A walk-through of the yeast mating pheromone response pathway', *Peptides*, 26(2), pp. 339–350.
- Barnes, C. E., English, D. M. and Cowley, S. M. (2019) 'Acetylation & Co: an expanding repertoire of histone acylations regulates chromatin and transcription', *Essays In Biochemistry*, 63(1), pp. 97–107.
- Bazzi, M. *et al.* (2010) 'Dephosphorylation of H2A by Glc7/Protein Phosphatase 1 Promotes Recovery from Inhibition of DNA Replication', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 30(1), pp. 131– 145.

- Berger, S. L. (2007) 'The complex language of chromatin regulation during transcription', *Nature*, pp. 407–412.
- Berger, S. L. (2010) 'Cell signaling and transcriptional regulation via histone phosphorylation', *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia* on *Quantitative Biology*, 75(0), pp. 23–26.
- Bernstein, B. E. et al. (2002) 'Methylation of histone H3 Lys 4 in coding regions of active genes', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(13), pp. 8695–8700.
- Berry, D. B. *et al.* (2011) 'Multiple means to the same end: The genetic basis of acquired stress resistance in yeast', *PLoS Genetics*, 7(11), p. e1002353.
- Berry, D. B. and Gasch, A. P. (2008) 'Stress-activated genomic expression changes serve a preparative role for impending stress in yeast', *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 19(11), pp. 4580–4587.
- Bonaldi, T., Imhof, A. and Regula, J. T. (2004) 'A combination of different mass spectroscopic techniques for the analysis of dynamic changes of histone modifications', *Proteomics*, 4(5), pp. 1382–1396.
- Bowman, G. D. (2010) 'Mechanisms of ATP-dependent nucleosome sliding', *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 20(1), pp. 73–81.
- Brewster, J. L. *et al.* (1993) 'An osmosensing signal transduction pathway in yeast', *Science*, 265(5102), pp. 1760–1763.
- Brown, A. J. P. et al. (2017) 'Stress Adaptation.', *Microbiology* spectrum, 5(4), pp. 48–50.
- Bruzzone, M. J. et al. (2018) 'Distinct patterns of histone acetyltransferase and Mediator deployment at yeast proteincoding genes.', Genes & development, 32(17–18), pp. 1252– 1265.

Byrum, S. D. et al. (2012) 'ChAP-MS: A method for identification

of proteins and histone posttranslational modifications at a single genomic locus', *Cell Reports*, 2(1), pp. 198–205.

- Byrum, S. D., Taverna, S. D. and Tackett, A. J. (2013) 'Purification of a specific native genomic locus for proteomic analysis', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(20), p. e195.
- Canal, B. *et al.* (2018) 'A novel mechanism for the prevention of transcription replication conflicts', *Molecular and Cellular Oncology*, 5(3), pp. 1–6.
- Capaldi, A. P. *et al.* (2008) 'Structure and function of a transcriptional network activated by the MAPK Hog1.', *Nature genetics*, 40(11), pp. 1300–6.
- Cargnello, M. and Roux, P. P. (2011) 'Activation and Function of the MAPKs and Their Substrates, the MAPK-Activated Protein Kinases', *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 75(1), pp. 50–83.
- Causton, H. C. *et al.* (2001) 'Remodeling of yeast genome expression in response to environmental changes.', *Molecular biology of the cell*, 12(2), pp. 323–337.
- Di Cerbo, V. *et al.* (2014) 'Acetylation of histone H3 at lysine 64 regulates nucleosome dynamics and facilitates transcription.', *eLife*, 3(3), p. e01632.
- Chang, Y. L. *et al.* (2017) 'Yeast Cip1 is activated by environmental stress to inhibit Cdk1-G1 cyclins via Mcm1 and Msn', *Nature Communications*, 8(1), p. 56.
- Chen, H. P., Zhao, Y. T. and Zhao, T. C. (2015) 'Histone deacetylases and mechanisms of regulation of gene expression', *Critical Reviews in Oncogenesis*, 20(1–2), pp. 35–47.
- Choe, J., Kolodrubetz, D. and Grunstein, M. (1982) 'The two yeast histone H2A genes encode similar protein subtypes', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America, 79(5), pp. 1484–1487.

- Church, M. C. and Fleming, A. B. (2018) 'A role for histone acetylation in regulating transcription elongation', *Transcription*, pp. 225–232.
- Clotet, J. *et al.* (2006) 'Phosphorylation of Hsl1 by Hog1 leads to a G2 arrest essential for cell survival at high osmolarity', *EMBO Journal*, 25(11), pp. 2338–2346.
- Cole, H. A. *et al.* (2014) 'Heavy transcription of yeast genes correlates with differential loss of histone H2B relative to H4 and queued RNA polymerases', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(20), pp. 12512–12522.
- Cornett, E. M., Dickson, B. M. and Rothbart, S. B. (2017) 'Analysis of histone antibody specificity with peptide microarrays', *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 2017(126).
- Cross, S. L. and Smith, M. M. (1988) 'Comparison of the structure and cell cycle expression of mRNAs encoded by two histone H3-H4 loci in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 8(2), pp. 945–954.
- Cullen, P. J. and Sprague, G. F. (2012) 'The regulation of filamentous growth in yeast.', *Genetics*, 190(1), pp. 23–49.
- Dai, J. *et al.* (2008) 'Probing nucleosome function: a highly versatile library of synthetic histone H3 and H4 mutants.', *Cell*, 134(6), pp. 1066–78.
- Dai, Y. et al. (2017) 'Multiplexed Sequence-Specific Capture of Chromatin and Mass Spectrometric Discovery of Associated Proteins.', Analytical chemistry, 89(15), pp. 7841–7846.
- Daujat, S. et al. (2009) 'H3K64 trimethylation marks heterochromatin and is dynamically remodeled during developmental reprogramming', *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 16(7), pp. 777–781.
- Deckert, J. and Struhl, K. (2001) 'Histone Acetylation at Promoters Is Differentially Affected by Specific Activators and Repressors', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21(8), pp. 2726–2735.

- Dihazi, H., Kessler, R. and Eschrich, K. (2004) 'High osmolarity glycerol (HOG) pathway-induced phosphorylation and activation of 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase are essential for glycerol accumulation and yeast cell proliferation under hyperosmotic stress', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(23), pp. 23961–23968.
- Doyon, Y. and Côté, J. (2004) 'The highly conserved and multifunctional NuA4 HAT complex', *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development*, 14(2), pp. 147–154.
- Van Drogen, F. *et al.* (2000) 'Phosphorylation of the MEKK Ste11p by the PAK-like kinase Ste20p is required for MAP kinase signaling in vivo', *Current Biology*, 10(11), pp. 630–639.
- Du, H. N., Fingerman, I. M. and Briggs, S. D. (2008) 'Histone H3 K36 methylation is mediated by a trans-histone methylation pathway involving an interaction between Set2 and histone H4', *Genes and Development*, 22(20), pp. 2786–2798.
- Duch, A., De Nadal, E. and Posas, F. (2013) 'Dealing with transcriptional outbursts during s phase to protect genomic integrity', *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 425(23), pp. 4745–4755.
- Eastmond, D. L. and Nelson, H. C. M. (2006) 'Genome-wide analysis reveals new roles for the activation domains of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae heat shock transcription factor (Hsf1) during the transient heat shock response', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(43), pp. 32909–32921.
- Egelhofer, T. A. *et al.* (2011) 'An assessment of histonemodification antibody quality', *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 18(1), pp. 91–94.
- English, C. M. *et al.* (2006) 'Structural Basis for the Histone Chaperone Activity of Asf1', *Cell*, 127(3), pp. 495–508.
- Enomoto, S. and Berman, J. (1998) 'Chromatin assembly factor I contributes to the maintenance but not the re-establishment silencing at the yeast silent mating loci', *Genes and Development*, 12(2), pp. 219–232.

- Eriksson, P. R. et al. (2012) 'Regulation of histone gene expression in budding yeast', *Genetics*, 191(1), pp. 7–20.
- Erkina, T. Y. and Erkine, a M. (2006) 'Displacement of histones at promoters of Saccharomyces cerevisiae heat shock genes is differentially associated with histone H3 acetylation.', *Molecular and cellular biology*, 26(20), pp. 7587–600.
- Erkina, T. Y., Tschetter, P. a and Erkine, A. M. (2008) 'Different requirements of the SWI/SNF complex for robust nucleosome displacement at promoters of heat shock factor and Msn2- and Msn4-regulated heat shock genes.', *Molecular and cellular biology*, 28(4), pp. 1207–17.
- Erkine, A. M. *et al.* (1999) 'Cooperative binding of heat shock factor to the yeast HSP82 promoter in vivo and in vitro.', *Molecular and cellular biology*, 19(3), pp. 1627–39.
- Escoté, X. *et al.* (2004) 'Hog1 mediates cell-cycle arrest in G1 phase by the dual targeting of Sic1', *Nature Cell Biology*, 6(10), pp. 997–1002.
- Ferrigno, P. *et al.* (1998) 'Regulated nucleo/cytoplasmic exchange of HOG1 MAPK requires the importin beta homologs NMD5 and XPO1.', *The EMBO journal*, 17(19), pp. 5606–14.
- Fingerman, I. M., Li, H. C. and Briggs, S. D. (2007) 'A chargebased interaction between histone H4 and Dot1 is required for H3K79 methylation and telomere silencing: Identification of a new trans-histone pathway', *Genes and Development*, 21(16), pp. 2018–2029.
- Freitas, M. A., Sklenar, A. R. and Parthun, M. R. (2004) 'Application of mass spectrometry to the identification and quantification of histone post-translational modifications', *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 92(4), pp. 691–700.
- Fuchs, B. B. and Mylonakis, E. (2009) 'Our paths might cross: the role of the fungal cell wall integrity pathway in stress response and cross talk with other stress response pathways.', *Eukaryotic cell*, 8(11), pp. 1616–25.

- García-Pichardo, D. *et al.* (2017) 'Histone Mutants Separate R Loop Formation from Genome Instability Induction.', *Molecular cell*, 66(5), pp. 597-609.e5.
- Garcia, B. A., Mollah, S., *et al.* (2007) 'Chemical derivatization of histones for facilitated analysis by mass spectrometry', *Nature Protocols*, 2(4), pp. 933–938.
- Garcia, B. A., Hake, S. B., *et al.* (2007) 'Organismal differences in post-translational modifications in histones H3 and H4', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(10), pp. 7641–7655.
- García, R. *et al.* (2009) 'The high osmotic response and cell wall integrity pathways cooperate to regulate transcriptional responses to zymolyase-induced cell wall stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(16), pp. 10901–10911.
- García, R. *et al.* (2017) 'A novel connection between the Cell Wall Integrity and the PKA pathways regulates cell wall stress response in yeast', *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), p. 5703.
- Gasch, A. P. *et al.* (2000) 'Genomic expression programs in the response of yeast cells to environmental changes.', *Molecular biology of the cell*, 11(12), pp. 4241–57.
- Gasch, A. P. and Werner-Washburne, M. (2002) 'The genomics of yeast responses to environmental stress and starvation', *Functional and Integrative Genomics*, 2(4-5), pp. 181–192.
- Giaever, G. *et al.* (2002) 'Functional profiling of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae genome', *Nature*, 418(6896), pp. 387–391.
- Giannattasio, M. et al. (2005) 'The DNA damage checkpoint response requires histone H2B ubiquitination by Rad6-Bre1 and H3 methylation by Dot1', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(11), pp. 9879–9886.
- Görner, W. *et al.* (1998) 'Nuclear localization of the C2H2 zinc finger protein Msn2p is regulated by stress and protein kinase A activity', *Genes and Development*, 12(4), pp. 586–597.

- Grant, P. A. *et al.* (1997) 'Yeast Gcn5 functions in two multisubunit complexes to acetylate nucleosomal histones: Characterization of an ada complex and the saga (spt/ada) complex', *Genes and Development*, 11(13), pp. 1640–1650.
- Gross, D. S. *et al.* (1993) 'A critical role for heat shock transcription factor in establishing a nucleosome-free region over the TATA-initiation site of the yeast HSP82 heat shock gene.', *The EMBO journal*, 12(10), pp. 3931–45.
- Gubern, A. et al. (2016) 'The N-Terminal Phosphorylation of RB by p38 Bypasses Its Inactivation by CDKs and Prevents Proliferation in Cancer Cells.', *Molecular cell*, 64(1), pp. 25– 36.
- Guettouche, T. *et al.* (2005) 'Analysis of phosphorylation of human heat shock factor 1 in cells experiencing a stress.', *BMC biochemistry*, 6, p. 4.
- Gurard-Levin, Z. A., Quivy, J.-P. and Almouzni, G. (2014) 'Histone Chaperones: Assisting Histone Traffic and Nucleosome Dynamics', *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 83(1), pp. 487– 517.
- Haase, J. *et al.* (2012) 'Bub1 kinase and Sgo1 modulate pericentric chromatin in response to altered microtubule dynamics', *Current Biology*, 22(6), pp. 471–481.
- Hahn, J.-S. and Thiele, D. J. (2002) 'Regulation of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Slt2 kinase pathway by the stressinducible Sdp1 dual specificity phosphatase.', *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 277(24), pp. 21278–84.
- Hahn, J. et al. (2004) 'Genome-Wide Analysis of the Biology of Stress Responses through Heat Shock Transcription Factor', *Molecular & cellular biology*, 24(12), pp. 5249–5256.
- Hainer, S. J. and Martens, J. A. (2011) 'Identification of Histone Mutants That Are Defective for Transcription-Coupled Nucleosome Occupancy', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 31(17), pp. 3557–3568.

- Hall, M. A. *et al.* (2009) 'High-resolution dynamic mapping of histone-DNA interactions in a nucleosome', *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 16(2), pp. 124–129.
- Hao, N. et al. (2007) 'A Systems-Biology Analysis of Feedback Inhibition in the Sho1 Osmotic-Stress-Response Pathway', *Current Biology*, 17(8), pp. 659–667.
- Hao, N. et al. (2008) 'Control of MAPK specificity by feedback phosphorylation of shared adaptor protein Ste50', Journal of Biological Chemistry, 283(49), pp. 33798–33802.
- Hattori, T. *et al.* (2013) 'Recombinant antibodies to histone posttranslational modifications', *Nature Methods*, 10(10), pp. 992–995.
- Henikoff, S. and Smith, M. M. (2015) 'Histone variants and epigenetics', *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(1), p. a019364.
- Hereford, L. *et al.* (1979) 'Isolation of yeast histone genes H2A and H2B', *Cell*, 18(4), pp. 1261–1271.
- Hilgarth, R. S. *et al.* (2004) 'Identification of Xenopus heat shock transcription factor-2: Conserved role of sumoylation in regulating deoxyribonucleic acid-binding activity of heat shock transcription factor-2 proteins', *Cell Stress and Chaperones*, 9(2), pp. 214–220.
- Ho, Y.-H. H. and Gasch, A. P. (2015) 'Exploiting the yeast stressactivated signaling network to inform on stress biology and disease signaling', *Current Genetics*, 61(4), pp. 503–511.
- Hodges, A. J. *et al.* (2015) 'Histone sprocket arginine residues are important for gene expression, DNA repair, and cell viability in Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Genetics*, 200(3), pp. 795–806.
- Hodges, A. J., Gloss, L. M. and Wyrick, J. J. (2017) 'Residues in the nucleosome acidic patch regulate histone occupancy and are important for FACT binding in Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Genetics*, 206(3), pp. 1339–1348.

- Hohmann, S. (2002) 'Osmotic Stress Signaling and Osmoadaptation in Yeasts', *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 66(2), pp. 300–372.
- Holly, S. P. and Blumer, K. J. (1999) 'PAK-family kinases regulate cell and actin polarization throughout the cell cycle of Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Journal of Cell Biology*, 147(4), pp. 845–856.
- Hong, Y. *et al.* (2001) 'Regulation of heat shock transcription factor 1 by stress-induced SUMO-1 modification.', *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 276(43), pp. 40263–7.
- Hottiger, T. et al. (1992) 'The 70-kilodalton heat-shock proteins of the SSA subfamily negatively modulate heat-shock-induced accumulation of trehalose and promote recovery from heat stress in the yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae', European Journal of Biochemistry, 210(1), pp. 125–132.
- Hsu, J.-Y. *et al.* (2000) 'Mitotic Phosphorylation of Histone H3 Is Governed by Ipl1/aurora Kinase and Glc7/PP1 Phosphatase in Budding Yeast and Nematodes logical changes on the DNA template in an energy', *Cell*, 102, pp. 279–291.
- Huang, H. et al. (2009) 'HistoneHits: A database for histone mutations and their phenotypes', Genome Research, 19(4), pp. 674–681.
- Huang, H. et al. (2018) 'Lysine benzoylation is a histone mark regulated by SIRT2', *Nature Communications*, 9(1), p. 3374.
- Huisinga, K. L. and Pugh, B. F. (2004) 'A genome-wide housekeeping role for TFIID and a highly regulated stressrelated role for SAGA in Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Molecular Cell*, 13(4), pp. 573–585.
- Hyland, E. M. *et al.* (2005) 'Insights into the role of histone H3 and histone H4 core modifiable residues in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.', *Molecular and cellular biology*, 25(22), pp. 10060–70.

Imhof, A. and Becker, P. B. (2001) 'Modifications of the Histone N-

Terminal Domains: Evidence for an "Epigenetic Code"?", *Molecular Biotechnology*, 17(1), pp. 01–14.

- Ishiguro, T. *et al.* (2018) 'Malonylation of histone H2A at lysine 119 inhibits Bub1-dependent H2A phosphorylation and chromosomal localization of shugoshin proteins.', *Scientific reports*, 8(1), p. 7671.
- Ito, T. *et al.* (1996) 'Drosophila NAP-1 is a core histone chaperone that functions in ATP-facilitated assambly of regularly spaced nucleosomal array', *Molecular & cellular biology*, 15(6), pp. 3112–24.
- Iwasaki, W. *et al.* (2013) 'Contribution of histone N-terminal tails to the structure and stability of nucleosomes', *FEBS Open Bio*, 3, pp. 363–369.
- Jacoby, T. *et al.* (1997) 'Two protein-tyrosine phosphatases inactivate the osmotic stress response pathway in yeast by targeting the mitogen-activated protein kinase, Hog1', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(28), pp. 17749–17755.
- Jansen, A. and Verstrepen, K. J. (2011) 'Nucleosome positioning in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.', *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR*, 75(2), pp. 301–20.
- Janssen, K. A., Sidoli, S. and Garcia, B. A. (2017) 'Recent Achievements in Characterizing the Histone Code and Approaches to Integrating Epigenomics and Systems Biology', *Methods in Enzymology*, 586, pp. 359–378.
- Jenuwein, T. and Allis, C. D. (2001) 'Translating the histone code', Science. American Association for the Advancement of Science, 293(5532), pp. 1074–1080.
- Jiang, S., Liu, Y., Wang, A., et al. (2017) 'Construction of comprehensive dosage-matching core histone mutant libraries for Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Genetics*, 207(4), pp. 1263– 1273.
- Jiang, S., Liu, Y., Xu, C., *et al.* (2017) 'Dissecting nucleosome function with a comprehensive histone H2A and H2B mutant

library', G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics, 7(12), pp. 3857–3866.

- Jin, C. *et al.* (2015) 'The MAPKKKs Stell and Bckl jointly transduce the high oxidative stress signal through the cell wall integrity MAP kinase pathway.', *Microbial cell*, 2(9), pp. 329–342.
- Joshi, A. A. and Struhl, K. (2005) 'Eaf3 chromodomain interaction with methylated H3-K36 links histone deacetylation to pol II elongation', *Molecular Cell*, 20(6), pp. 971–978.
- Jung, U. S. *et al.* (2002) 'Regulation of the yeast Rlm1 transcription factor by the Mpk1 cell wall integrity MAP kinase', *Molecular Microbiology*, 46(3), pp. 781–789.
- Kan, P.-Y., Caterino, T. L. and Hayes, J. J. (2009) 'The H4 Tail Domain Participates in Intra- and Internucleosome Interactions with Protein and DNA during Folding and Oligomerization of Nucleosome Arrays', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 29(2), pp. 538–546.
- Kang, B. *et al.* (2011) 'Phosphorylation of H4 Ser 47 promotes HIRA-mediated nucleosome assembly.', *Genes & development*, 25(13), pp. 1359–64.
- Kebede, A. F., Schneider, R. and Daujat, S. (2015) 'Novel types and sites of histone modifications emerge as players in the transcriptional regulation contest', *FEBS Journal*, 282(9), pp. 1658–1674.
- Keck, K. M. and Pemberton, L. F. (2012) 'Histone chaperones link histone nuclear import and chromatin assembly', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Gene Regulatory Mechanisms*, 1819(3-4), pp. 277–289.
- El Kennani, S. *et al.* (2018) 'Proteomic analysis of histone variants and their PTMs: Strategies and pitfalls', *Proteomes*, 6(29).
- Kim, K. *et al.* (2013) 'Linker histone H1.2 cooperates with Cul4A and PAF1 to drive H4K31 ubiquitylation-mediated transactivation', *Cell Reports*, 5(6), pp. 1690–1703.

- Kim, K. Y. and Levin, D. E. (2011) 'Mpk1 MAPK association with the paf1 complex blocks sen1-mediated premature transcription termination', *Cell*, 144(5), pp. 745–756.
- Kirmizis, A. *et al.* (2007) 'Arginine methylation at histone H3R2 controls deposition of H3K4 trimethylation', *Nature*, 449(7164), pp. 928–932.
- Klopf, E. *et al.* (2009) 'Cooperation between the INO80 Complex and Histone Chaperones Determines Adaptation of Stress Gene Transcription in the Yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 29(18), pp. 4994–5007.
- Klopf, E. *et al.* (2017) 'INO80 represses osmostress induced gene expression by resetting promoter proximal nucleosomes', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 45(7), pp. 3752–3766.
- Korber, P. *et al.* (2006) 'The histone chaperone Asf1 increases the rate of histone eviction at the yeast PHO5 and PHO8 promoters', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(9), pp. 5539–5545.
- Krebs, J. E. (2007) 'Moving marks: Dynamic histone modifications in yeast', *Molecular BioSystems*, 3(9), pp. 590–597.
- Kremer, S. B. and Gross, D. S. (2009) 'SAGA and Rpd3 chromatin modification complexes dynamically regulate heat shock gene structure and expression.', *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 284(47), pp. 32914–31.
- Krietenstein, N. *et al.* (2016) 'Genomic Nucleosome Organization Reconstituted with Pure Proteins', *Cell*, 167(3), pp. 709–721.
- Krogan, N. J. *et al.* (2003) 'The Paf1 complex is required for histone H3 methylation by COMPASS and Dot1p: Linking transcriptional elongation to histone methylation', *Molecular Cell*, 11(3), pp. 721–729.
- Kuchin, S. and Carlson, M. (1998) 'Functional Relationships of Srb10-Srb11 Kinase, Carboxy-Terminal Domain Kinase CTDK-I, and Transcriptional Corepressor Ssn6-Tup1', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 18(3), pp. 1163–1171.

- Kulaeva, O. I., Hsieh, F. K. and Studitsky, V. M. (2010) 'RNA polymerase complexes cooperate to relieve the nucleosomal barrier and evict histones', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(25), pp. 11325–11330.
- Kumar, A. et al. (2012) 'Structural delineation of histone posttranslation modifications in histone-nucleosome assembly protein complex', *Journal of Structural Biology*, 180(1), pp. 1–9.
- Kungulovski, G., Mauser, R. and Jeltsch, A. (2015) 'Affinity reagents for studying histone modifications & guidelines for their quality control', *Epigenomics*, 7(7), pp. 1185–1196.
- Lamson, R. E., Winters, M. J. and Pryciak, P. M. (2002) 'Cdc42 regulation of kinase activity and signaling by the yeast p21-Activated kinase Ste20', *Molecular & cellular biology*, 22(9), pp. 2939–2951.
- Lee, J. *et al.* (2013) 'MAPK Hog1 closes the S. cerevisiae glycerol channel Fps1 by phosphorylating and displacing its positive regulators', *Genes and Development*, 27(23), pp. 2590–2601.
- Lee, T. I. *et al.* (2000) 'Redundant roles for the TFIID and SAGA complexes in global transcription', *Nature*, 405(6787), pp. 701–704.
- van Leeuwen, F., Gafken, P. R. and Gottschling, D. E. (2002) 'Dot1p modulates silencing in yeast by methylation of the nucleosome core.', *Cell*, 109(6), pp. 745–56.
- Leng, G. and Song, K. (2016) 'Direct interaction of Stell and Mkk1/2 through Nstl integrates high-osmolarity glycerol and pheromone pathways to the cell wall integrity MAPK pathway.', *FEBS letters*, 590(1), pp. 148–60.
- Levin, D. E. (2011) 'Regulation of cell wall biogenesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: The cell wall integrity signaling pathway', *Genetics*, 189(4), pp. 1145–1175.
- Li, B. et al. (2005) 'Preferential occupancy of histone variant H2AZ

at inactive and chromatin remodeling', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(51), pp. 18385–18390.

- Liang, D. et al. (2012) 'Histone dosage regulates DNA damage sensitivity in a checkpoint-independent manner by the homologous recombination pathway', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(19), pp. 9604–9620.
- Lin, M. *et al.* (2009) 'The Cdc42 effectors Ste20, Cla4, and Skm1 down-regulate the expression of genes involved in sterol uptake by a mitogen-activated protein kinase-independent pathway.', *Molecular biology of the cell*, 20(22), pp. 4826–37.
- Liu, X., Zhang, X. and Zhang, Z. (2014) 'Point mutation of H3/H4 histones affects acetic acid tolerance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Journal of Biotechnology*, 187, pp. 116–123.
- Lorch, Y. and Kornberg, R. D. (2017) 'Chromatin-remodeling for transcription', *Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics*, 50, pp. 1–15.
- Luger, K. *et al.* (1997) 'Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 Å resolution', *Nature*, 389(6648), pp. 251–260.
- Luger, K., Dechassa, M. L. and Tremethick, D. J. (2012) 'New insights into nucleosome and chromatin structure: an ordered state or a disordered affair?', *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*, 13(7), pp. 436–47.
- Machida, S. *et al.* (2016) 'Structural and biochemical analyses of monoubiquitinated human histones H2B and H4', *Open Biology*, 6(6), p. 160090.
- Maeda, T., Takekawa, M. and Saito, H. (1995) 'Activation of yeast PBS2 MAPKK by MAPKKKs or by binding of an SH3containing osmosensor', *Science*, 269(5223), pp. 554–558.
- Magalhães, R. S. S. *et al.* (2018) 'The trehalose protective mechanism during thermal stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: The roles of Ath1 and Agt1', *FEMS Yeast Research*, 18(6).

Mager, W. H. and Varela, J. C. S. (1993) 'Osmostress response of

the yeast Saccharomyces', *Molecular Microbiology*, 10(2), pp. 253–258.

- Magraner-Pardo, L. *et al.* (2014) 'Dynamic remodeling of histone modifications in response to osmotic stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.', *BMC genomics*, 15(1), p. 247.
- Maik-Rachline, G. *et al.* (2018) 'The nuclear translocation of the kinases p38 and JNK promotes inflammation-induced cancer', *Science Signaling*, 11(525), p. eaao3428.
- Marzluff, W. F. *et al.* (2002) 'The human and mouse replicationdependent histone genes', *Genomics*, 80(5), pp. 487–498.
- Mas, G. *et al.* (2009) 'Recruitment of a chromatin remodelling complex by the Hog1 MAP kinase to stress genes', *EMBO Journal*, 28(4), pp. 326–336.
- Mattison, C. P. et al. (1999) 'Differential Regulation of the Cell Wall Integrity Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Pathway in Budding Yeast by the Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases Ptp2 and Ptp3', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 19(11), pp. 7651– 7660.
- McInerny, C. J. (2016) 'Cell cycle regulated transcription: From yeast to cancer', *F1000Research*, 5.
- Merlini, L., Dudin, O. and Martin, S. G. (2013) 'Mate and fuse: How yeast cells do it', *Open Biology*, 3(MAR), pp. 130008– 130008.
- Millan-Zambrano, G. et al. (2018) 'Phosphorylation of Histone H4T80 Triggers DNA Damage Checkpoint Recovery', Molecular Cell, 72(4), pp. 625–635.
- Miller, C. *et al.* (2011) 'Dynamic transcriptome analysis measures rates of mRNA synthesis and decay in yeast', *Molecular Systems Biology*, 7, p. 458.
- Montellier, E. *et al.* (2013) 'Chromatin-to-nucleoprotamine transition is controlled by the histone H2B variant TH2B', *Genes and Development*, 27(15), pp. 1680–1692.

- Morano, K. A., Grant, C. M. and Moye-Rowley, W. S. (2012) 'The response to heat shock and oxidative stress in saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Genetics*, 190(4), pp. 1157–1195.
- Morillon, A. *et al.* (2005) 'Dynamic lysine methylation on histone H3 defines the regulatory phase of gene transcription', *Molecular Cell*, 18(6), pp. 723–734.
- Muñoz-Galván, S. *et al.* (2013) 'Histone H3K56 Acetylation, Rad52, and Non-DNA Repair Factors Control Double-Strand Break Repair Choice with the Sister Chromatid', *PLoS Genetics*, 9(1), p. e1003237.
- Nadal-Ribelles, M. *et al.* (2012) 'Hog1 bypasses stress-mediated down-regulation of transcription by RNA polymerase II redistribution and chromatin remodeling.', *Genome biology*, 13(11), p. R106.
- Nadal-Ribelles, M. *et al.* (2014) 'Control of Cdc28 CDK1 by a Stress-Induced lncRNA', *Molecular Cell*, 53(4), pp. 549–561.
- Nadal-Ribelles, M. *et al.* (2015) 'H3K4 monomethylation dictates nucleosome dynamics and chromatin remodeling at stressresponsive genes.', *Nucleic acids research*, 43(10), pp. 4937– 49.
- de Nadal, E. et al. (2004) 'The MAPK Hog1 recruits Rpd3 histone deacetylase to activate osmoresponsive genes.', Nature, 427(6972), pp. 370–4.
- de Nadal, E., Ammerer, G. and Posas, F. (2011) 'Controlling gene expression in response to stress.', *Nature reviews. Genetics*, 12(12), pp. 833–45.
- de Nadal, E., Casadome, L. and Posas, F. (2003) 'Targeting the MEF2-Like Transcription Factor Smp1 by the Stress-Activated Hog1 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(1), pp. 229–237.
- de Nadal, E. and Posas, F. (2011) 'Elongating under Stress.', Genetics research international, 2011, p. 7.

- de Nadal, E. and Posas, F. (2015) 'Osmostress-induced gene expression - a model to understand how stress-activated protein kinases (SAPKs) regulate transcription.', *The FEBS journal*, 282(17), pp. 3275–85.
- Nakanishi, S. *et al.* (2008) 'A comprehensive library of histone mutants identifies nucleosomal residues required for H3K4 methylation', *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 15(8), pp. 881–888.
- Navarro-Aviño, J. P. *et al.* (1999) 'A proposal for nomenclature of aldehyde dehydrogenases in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and characterization of the stress-inducible ALD2 and ALD3 genes', *Yeast*, 15(10 A), pp. 829–842.
- Nevoigt, E. and Stahl, U. (1997) 'Osmoregulation and glycerol metabolism in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 21(3), pp. 231–241.
- Ng, H. H. *et al.* (2002) 'Ubiquitination of histone H2B by Rad6 is required for efficient Dot1-mediated methylation of histone H3 lysine 79', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(38), pp. 34655–34657.
- Nguyen, H. T. T. *et al.* (2013) 'A nucleosomal region important for ensuring proper interactions between the transcriptionelongation factor Spt16 and transcribed genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics*, 3(6), pp. 929–940.
- Ni, L. *et al.* (2009) 'Dynamic and complex transcription factor binding during an inducible response in yeast.', *Genes & development*, 23(11), pp. 1351–63.
- Nishioka, K. *et al.* (2002) 'PR-Set7 is a nucleosome-specific methyltransferase that modifies lysine 20 of histone H4 and is associated with silent Chromatin', *Molecular Cell*, 9(6), pp. 1201–1213.
- Noberini, R. *et al.* (2018) 'Extensive and systematic rewiring of histone post-translational modifications in cancer model systems', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 46(8), pp. 3817–3832.

- Norris, D., Dunn, B. and Osley, M. A. (1988) 'The effect of histone gene deletions on chromatin structure in Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Science*, 242(4879), pp. 759–761.
- Norris, D. and Osley, M. A. (1987) 'The two gene pairs encoding H2A and H2B play different roles in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae life cycle.', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 7(10), pp. 3473–3481.
- Nurse, N. P. *et al.* (2013) 'Clipping of flexible tails of histones H3 and H4 affects the structure and dynamics of the nucleosome', *Biophysical Journal*, 104(5), pp. 1081–1088.
- Offley, S. R. and Schmidt, M. C. (2019) 'Protein phosphatases of Saccharomyces cerevisiae', *Current Genetics*, 65(1), pp. 41–55.
- Osley, M. A. (1991) 'The Regulation of Histone Synthesis in the Cell Cycle', *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 60(1), pp. 827– 861.
- Panday, A. and Grove, A. (2017) 'Yeast HMO1: Linker Histone Reinvented', *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 81(1).
- Pardal, A. J., Fernandes-Duarte, F. and Bowman, A. J. (2019) 'The histone chaperoning pathway: From ribosome to nucleosome', *Essays in Biochemistry*, 63(1), pp. 29–43.
- Park, H.-O. and Bi, E. (2007) 'Central Roles of Small GTPases in the Development of Cell Polarity in Yeast and Beyond', *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 71(1), pp. 48– 96.
- Patel, D. J. and Wang, Z. (2013) 'Readout of Epigenetic Modifications', *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 82(1), pp. 81–118.
- Peach, S. E. *et al.* (2012) 'Quantitative assessment of chromatin immunoprecipitation grade antibodies directed against histone modifications reveals patterns of co-occurring marks on histone protein molecules', in *Molecular and Cellular*

Proteomics, 11(5), pp. 128–137.

- Pelet, S. *et al.* (2011) 'Transient activation of the HOG MAPK pathway regulates bimodal gene expression.', *Science*, 332(6030), pp. 732–5.
- Petesch, S. J. and Lis, J. T. (2012) 'Overcoming the nucleosome barrier during transcript elongation', *Trends in Genetics*, 28(6), pp. 285–294.
- Posas, F. *et al.* (1996) 'Yeast HOG1 MAP kinase cascade is regulated by a multistep phosphorelay mechanism in the SLN1-YPD1-SSK1 "two-component" osmosensor.', *Cell*, 86(6), pp. 865–75.
- Posas, F. *et al.* (2000) 'The transcriptional response of yeast to saline stress', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(23), pp. 17249–17255.
- Posas, F. and Saito, H. (1997) 'Osmotic activation of the HOG MAPK pathway via Ste11p MAPKKK: Scaffold role of Pbs2p MAPKK', *Science*, 276(5319), pp. 1702–1708.
- Posas, F. and Saito, H. (1998) 'Activation of the yeast SSK2 MAP kinase kinase kinase by the SSK1 two-component response regulator', *EMBO Journal*, 17(5), pp. 1385–1394.
- Pray-Grant, M. G. *et al.* (2005) 'Chd1 chromodomain links histone H3 methylation with SAGA- and SLIK-dependent acetylation', *Nature*, 433(7024), pp. 434–438.
- Proft, M. *et al.* (2001) 'Regulation of the Sko1 transcriptional repressor by the Hog1 MAP kinase in response to osmotic stress', *EMBO Journal*, 20(5), pp. 1123–1133.
- Proft, M. and Struhl, K. (2002) 'Hog1 kinase converts the Sko1-Cyc8-Tup1 repressor complex into an activator that recruits SAGA and SWI/SNF in response to osmotic stress.', *Molecular cell*, 9(6), pp. 1307–17.
- Proft, M. and Struhl, K. (2004) 'MAP Kinase-Mediated Stress Relief that Precedes and Regulates the Timing of

Transcriptional Induction mechanism that permits reassociation of these proteins', *Cell*, 118, pp. 351–361.

- Raitt, D. C. (2000) 'Yeast Cdc42 GTPase and Ste20 PAK-like kinase regulate Sho1-dependent activation of the Hog1 MAPK pathway', *The EMBO Journal*, 19(17), pp. 4623– 4631.
- Ramaswamy, V. *et al.* (2003) 'Global Control of Histone Modification by the Anaphase-Promoting Complex', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(24), pp. 9136–9149.
- Reiser, V., Salah, S. M. and Ammerer, G. (2000) 'Polarized localization of yeast Pbs2 depends on osmostress, the membrane protein Sho1 and Cdc42', *Nature Cell Biology*, 2(9), pp. 620–627.
- Rep, M. et al. (2000) 'The transcriptional response of Saccharomyces cerevisiae to osmotic shock. Hot1p and Msn2p/Msn4p are required for the induction of subsets of high osmolarity glycerol pathway-dependent genes', *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 275(12), pp. 8290–8300.
- Richmond, T. J. and Davey, C. A. (2003) 'The structure of DNA in the nucleosome core', *Nature*, 423(6936), pp. 145–150.
- Richter, K., Haslbeck, M. and Buchner, J. (2010) 'The Heat Shock Response: Life on the Verge of Death', *Molecular Cell*, 40(2), pp. 253–266.
- Rivera, C. *et al.* (2014) 'Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Histone lysine methylation and chromatin replication', *BBA - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms*, 1839(12), pp. 1433–1439.
- Robzyk, K., Recht, J. and Osley, M. A. (2000) 'Rad6-dependent ubiquitination of histone H2B in yeast', *Science*, 287(5452), pp. 501–504.
- Rodríguez-Navarro, S. (2009) 'Insights into SAGA function during gene expression', *EMBO Reports*, 10(8), pp. 843–850.

Ruiz-Roig, C. et al. (2010) 'The Rpd3L HDAC complex is essential

for the heat stress response in yeast.', *Molecular microbiology*, 76(4), pp. 1049–62.

- Ruiz-Roig, C. et al. (2012) 'The Hog1 SAPK controls the Rtg1/Rtg3 transcriptional complex activity by multiple regulatory mechanisms.', *Molecular biology of the cell*, 23(21), pp. 4286–96.
- Saito, H. and Posas, F. (2012) 'Response to hyperosmotic stress.', *Genetics*, 192(2), pp. 289–318.
- Santisteban, M. S., Kalashnikova, T. and Smith, M. M. (2000) 'Histone H2A.Z regulates transcription and is partially redundant with nucleosome remodeling complexes', *Cell*, 103(3), pp. 411–422.
- Santos-rosa, H. *et al.* (2002) 'Active genes are tri-methylated at K4 of histone H3', *Nature*, 419(6905), pp. 407–411.
- Santos-Rosa, H. *et al.* (2009) 'Histone H3 tail clipping regulates gene expression', *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 16(1), pp. 17–22.
- Sanz, A. B. *et al.* (2016) 'Cooperation between SAGA and SWI/SNF complexes is required for efficient transcriptional responses regulated by the yeast MAPK Slt2', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(15), pp. 7159–7172.
- Sanz, A. B. *et al.* (2018) 'The CWI pathway: Regulation of the transcriptional adaptive response to cell wall stress in yeast', *Journal of Fungi*, 4(1), p. 1.
- Schneider, R. *et al.* (2004) 'Histone H3 lysine 4 methylation patterns in higher eukaryotic genes', *Nature Cell Biology*, 6(1), pp. 73–77.
- Schüller, C. et al. (1994) 'The HOG pathway controls osmotic regulation of transcription via the stress response element (STRE) of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae CTT1 gene.', *The EMBO Journal*, 13(18), pp. 4382–4389.

Seger, R. and Wexler, S. (2015) 'The MAPK Signaling Cascades',

in Bradshaw, R. A. and Stahl, P. D. (eds) *Encyclopedia of Cell Biology*, 3, pp. 122–127.

- Seidel, P. *et al.* (2016) 'The MNK-1/eIF4E pathway as a new therapeutic pathway to target inflammation and remodelling in asthma', *Cellular Signalling*. Elsevier Inc., 28(10), pp. 1555–1562.
- Shandilya, J. and Roberts, S. G. E. (2012) 'The transcription cycle in eukaryotes: From productive initiation to RNA polymerase II recycling', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms*, 1819(5), pp. 391–400.
- Shivaswamy, S. and Iyer, V. R. (2008) 'Stress-Dependent Dynamics of Global Chromatin Remodeling in Yeast: Dual Role for SWI/SNF in the Heat Shock Stress Response', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 28(7), pp. 2221–2234.
- Shogren-Knaak, M. et al. (2006) 'Histone H4-K16 acetylation controls chromatin structure and protein interactions', *Science*, 311(5762), pp. 844–847.
- Sidoli, S. *et al.* (2019) 'One minute analysis of 200 histone posttranslational modifications by direct injection mass spectrometry', *Genome Research*, 29(6), pp. 978–987.
- Sidoli, S. and Garcia, B. A. (2017a) 'Characterization of Individual Histone Posttranslational Modifications and Their Combinatorial Patterns by Mass Spectrometry-Based Proteomics Strategies', *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1528, pp. 121–148.
- Sidoli, S. and Garcia, B. A. (2017b) 'Middle-down proteomics: a still unexploited resource for chromatin biology.', *Expert review of proteomics*, 14(7), pp. 617–626.
- Silva, A. *et al.* (2017) 'Regulation of transcription elongation in response to osmostress', *PLoS Genetics*, 13(11), p. e1007090.
- Simithy, J., Sidoli, S. and Garcia, B. A. (2018) 'Integrating Proteomics and Targeted Metabolomics to Understand Global Changes in Histone Modifications', *Proteomics*, 18(18), p.

1700309.

- Sittman, D. B., Graves, R. A. and Marzluff, W. F. (1983) 'Histone mRNA concentrations are regulated at the level of transcription and mRNA degradation', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 80(7 I), pp. 1849–1853.
- Smith, C. L. *et al.* (2003) 'Structural analysis of the yeast SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex', *Nature Structural Biology*, 10(2), pp. 141–145.
- Smith, M. M. and Andrésson, O. S. (1983) 'DNA sequences of yeast H3 and H4 histone genes from two non-allelic gene sets encode identical H3 and H4 proteins.', *Journal of molecular biology*, 169(3), pp. 663–90.
- Solé, C. *et al.* (2011) 'Control of Ubp3 ubiquitin protease activity by the Hog1 SAPK modulates transcription upon osmostress', *EMBO Journal*, 30(16), pp. 3274–3284.
- Soragni, E. *et al.* (2012) 'Rationale for the development of 2aminobenzamide histone deacetylase inhibitors as therapeutics for Friedreich ataxia', in *Journal of Child Neurology*, 27(9), pp. 1164–1173.
- Steger, D. J. et al. (2008) 'DOT1L/KMT4 Recruitment and H3K79 Methylation Are Ubiquitously Coupled with Gene Transcription in Mammalian Cells', Molecular and Cellular Biology, 28(8), pp. 2825–2839.
- Stoler, S. *et al.* (1995) 'A mutation in CSE4, an essential gene encoding a novel chromatin- associated protein in yeast, causes chromosome nondisjunction and cell cycle arrest at mitosis', *Genes and Development*, 9(5), pp. 573–586.
- Strahl, B. D. *et al.* (2002) 'Set2 is a nucleosomal histone H3selective methyltransferase that mediates transcriptional repression.', *Molecular and cellular biology*, 22(5), pp. 1298– 306.

Suka, N. et al. (2001) 'Highly specific antibodies determine histone

acetylation site usage in yeast heterochromatin and euchromatin', *Molecular Cell*, 8(2), pp. 473–479.

- Tan, M. et al. (2014) 'Lysine glutarylation is a protein posttranslational modification regulated by SIRT5', Cell Metabolism, 19(4), pp. 605–617.
- Tatebayashi, K. *et al.* (2006) 'Adaptor functions of Cdc42, Ste50, and Sho1 in the yeast osmoregulatory HOG MAPK pathway', *EMBO Journal*, 25(13), pp. 3033–3044.
- Tessarz, P. *et al.* (2014) 'Glutamine methylation in histone H2A is an RNA-polymerase-I-dedicated modification', *Nature*, 505(7484), pp. 564–568.
- Tordera, V., Sendra, R. and Pérez-Ortín, J. E. (1993) 'The role of histones and their modifications in the informative content of chromatin', *Experientia*, 49(9), pp. 780–788.
- Tropberger, P. *et al.* (2013) 'Regulation of transcription through acetylation of H3K122 on the lateral surface of the histone octamer.', *Cell*, 152(4), pp. 859–72.
- Turner, B. M. (1993) 'Decoding the nucleosome.', *Cell*, 75(1), pp. 5–8.
- Turner, B. M. (2000) 'Histone acetylation and an epigenetic code', *BioEssays*, 22(9), pp. 836–845.
- Verghese, J. et al. (2012) 'Biology of the Heat Shock Response and Protein Chaperones: Budding Yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) as a Model System', *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 76(2), pp. 115–158.
- Vogelauer, M. et al. (2003) 'Global histone acetylation and deacetylation in yeast', *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 408(6811), pp. 495–8.
- Waldrip, Z. J. *et al.* (2014) 'A CRISPR-based approach for proteomic analysis of a single genomic locus.', *Epigenetics*, 9(9), pp. 1207–11.

- Wang, P. et al. (2017) 'Proteomic identification of histone post-Translational modifications and proteins enriched at a DNA double-strand break', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 45(19), pp. 10923–10940.
- Warmka, J. et al. (2001) 'Ptc1, a Type 2C Ser/Thr Phosphatase, Inactivates the HOG Pathway by Dephosphorylating the Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Hog1', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21(1), pp. 51–60.
- Weiner, A. et al. (2012) 'Systematic dissection of roles for chromatin regulators in a yeast stress response.', PLoS biology, 10(7), p. e1001369.
- Weiner, A. *et al.* (2015) 'High-resolution chromatin dynamics during a yeast stress response', *Molecular Cell*, 58(2), pp. 371–386.
- White, C. L., Suto, R. K. and Luger, K. (2001) 'Structure of the yeast nucleosome core particle reveals fundamental changes in internucleosome interactions', *EMBO Journal*, 20(18), pp. 5207–5218.
- Williams, S. K., Truong, D. and Tyler, J. K. (2008) 'Acetylation in the globular core of histone H3 on lysine-56 promotes chromatin disassembly during transcriptional activation.', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America, 105(26), pp. 9000–5.
- Williamson, K. et al. (2013) 'Catalytic and Functional Roles of Conserved Amino Acids in the SET Domain of the S. cerevisiae Lysine Methyltransferase Set1', PLoS ONE, 8(3), p. e57974.
- Worden, E. J. *et al.* (2019) 'Mechanism of Cross-talk between H2B Ubiquitination and H3 Methylation by Dot1L', *Cell*, 176(6), pp. 1490–1501.
- Wu, P. Y. J. et al. (2004) 'Molecular architecture of the S. cerevisiae SAGA complex', *Molecular Cell*, 15(2), pp. 199–208.
- Xie, Z. et al. (2012) 'Lysine Succinylation and Lysine Malonylation

in Histones', *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 11(5), pp. 100–107.

- Yang, H. Y. *et al.* (2009) 'Glycosylation defects activate filamentous growth Kss1 MAPK and inhibit osmoregulatory Hog1 MAPK', *EMBO Journal*, 28(10), pp. 1380–1391.
- Zapater, M. *et al.* (2005) 'Control of cell cycle progression by the stress-activated Hog1 MAPK', *Cell Cycle*, 4(1), pp. 6–7.
- Zapater, M. et al. (2007) 'Selective Requirement for SAGA in Hog1-Mediated Gene Expression Depending on the Severity of the External Osmostress Conditions', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 27(11), pp. 3900–3910.
- Zhang, H., Wang, Z. and Zhang, Z. (2013) 'PP1α, PP1β and Wip-1 regulate H4S47 phosphorylation and deposition of histone H3 variant H3.3', *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(17), pp. 8085–8093.
- Zhang, L. et al. (2003) 'Identification of novel histone posttranslational modifications by peptide mass fingerprinting.', *Chromosoma*, 112(2), pp. 77–86.
- Zhang, L. *et al.* (2018) 'Multisite Substrate Recognition in Asfl-Dependent Acetylation of Histone H3 K56 by Rtt109', *Cell*, 174(4), pp. 818-830.e11.
- Zhao, J., Herrera-Diaz, J. and Gross, D. S. (2005) 'Domain-Wide Displacement of Histones by Activated Heat Shock Factor Occurs Independently of Swi/Snf and Is Not Correlated with RNA Polymerase II Density', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(20), pp. 8985–8999.
- Zhao, Y. and Garcia, B. A. (2015) 'Comprehensive catalog of currently documented histone modifications', *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(9).

**LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS** 

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CWI pathway: cell wall integrity pathway.

dCas9: death Cas9

ESR: environmental stress response.

gRNA: guide RNA.

HATs: histone acetyl transferases.

HDAC: histone deacetylases.

HOG pathway: high osmolarity glycerol pathway.

HSE: heat shock elements.

MAPK: mitogen-activated protein kinase.

MAPKK or MAP2K: mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase.

MAPKKK or MAP3K: mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase.

MAPKKKK or MAP4K: mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase.

mRNA: messenger RNA.

MS: mass spectrometry.

Msn2/4: Msn2 and Msn4.

PIC: pre-initiation complex.

PKA pathway: protein kinase A pathway.

PTM: pots-translational modification.

RNA-Pol II: RNA polymerase II.

SAGA: Spt-ADA-Gcn5 acetyltransferase complex.

SIR: silent information regulator.